University of New Orleans ScholarWorks@UNO

University of New Orleans Theses and Dissertations

Dissertations and Theses

Fall 12-18-2015

Effects of Pharmacological De-prenylation of Rhes on Motor Behavior in a Beta-Nitropropionic Acid Animal Model of Huntington's Disease

Ashley Whitmarsh University of New Orleans, awhitma1@uno.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uno.edu/td

🖸 Part of the Biological Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Whitmarsh, Ashley, "Effects of Pharmacological De-prenylation of Rhes on Motor Behavior in a Beta-Nitropropionic Acid Animal Model of Huntington's Disease" (2015). *University of New Orleans Theses and Dissertations*. 2115.

https://scholarworks.uno.edu/td/2115

This Dissertation is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by ScholarWorks@UNO with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Dissertation in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/ or on the work itself.

This Dissertation has been accepted for inclusion in University of New Orleans Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks@UNO. For more information, please contact scholarworks@uno.edu.

Effects of Pharmacological De-prenylation of Rhes on Motor Behavior in a Beta-Nitropropionic Acid Animal Model of Huntington's Disease

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the University of New Orleans in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Applied Biopsychology

> > By

Ashley Whitmarsh

B.A. Elizabethtown College, 2008 M.S. University of New Orleans, 2013

December, 2015

Acknowledgement

I sincerely thank my major professor, Gerald LaHoste, for his tireless efforts and guidance throughout my graduate studies. My fellow lab members, past and present, were also invaluable to my project, as they provided generous assistance and support. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Leeroy Morgan, Dr. Monica Marsee, Dr. Connie Lamm, and Dr. Elliott Beaton for their helpful suggestions and commentary. Finally, I give my deepest appreciation to my family and friends for their continuous support for all of my endeavors.

Table of Contents

List of Figures	iv
List of Tables	v
Terms	vi
Abstract	viii
Introduction	1
Clinical Features	3
Gross Brain Pathology	5
Striatal Brain Pathology	6
Huntingtin Protein	9
Mutant Huntingtin	11
Rhes Protein	15
Mevalonate Pathway	17
3-Nitropropionic Acid	22
Hypotheses	25
Methods	25
Animals	25
Material and Apparatus	
Procedure	27
Results	
Rotarod Performance	
Clasping	
Weight	
Mortality	
Rhes Expression	
Discussion	34
Interpretation of Findings	34
Limitations	43
Future Considerations	45
Concluding Remarks	46
References	48
Vita	67

List of Figures

Rhes Prenylation in the Mevalonate Pathway	.18
Rotarod Performance	.31

List of Tables

Rotarod Performance	32
Clasping Behavior	
Weight	
Rhes Expression	

Terms

3-NP – 3-nitropropionic acid

- AD Alzheimer's disease
- Akt protein kinase B
- ATP adenosine triphosphate
- BBB blood brain barrier
- BDNF brain-derived neurotrophic factor
- BOLD blood oxygen level dependent signal

CAAX – amino acid motif consisting of cysteine, any aliphatic amino acid, any aliphatic amino acid, any amino acid

- CAG Cytosine Adenine Guanine nucleotide sequence
- CNS central nervous system
- DTI diffusion tensor Imaging
- FA fractional anisotropy
- fMRI functional magnetic resonance imaging
- FPPS farneysyldiphosphate synthase
- FPP farnesylpyrophosphate
- FTI farnesyltransferase inhibitor
- GABA gamma-amino butyric acid
- GGTI geranylgeranyltransferase inhibitor
- GGPP geranylgeranylpyrophosphate
- HD Huntington's disease

HEAT – Huntingtin, Elongation factor 3, the A subunit of protein phosphatase 2A, and TOR1 repeat

HMG-CoA - 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl- Co enzyme A; mevalonate pathway

HPLC – high performance liquid chromatography

- HSP heat shock protein
- Htt Huntingtin protein
- JNK c-Jun N-terminal kinases
- mHtt mutant Huntingtin protein
- Miro mitochondrial Rho
- mTOR mammalian target of rapamycin
- NES nuclear export signal
- NMDA n-methyl-D-aspartate
- PBS phosphate buffered saline
- Rheb Ras homologue enriched in the brain
- Rhes Ras homologue enriched in the striatum
- ROS reactive oxygen species
- SDS-PAGE sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- SUMO small ubiquitin-like modifier
- UPS ubiquitin-proteasome system

Abstract

Huntington's disease (HD) is a heritable, neurodegenerative disorder characterized by motor, cognitive, and psychiatric disturbances. The progressive disease is caused by an unstable CAG expansion within the gene that normally encodes for the huntingtin protein (Htt). The expanded mutant form of Htt (mHtt) is expressed ubiquitously throughout patients' bodies; however, neuronal degeneration is prominent only in the corpus striatum and, to a lesser extent, the cortex. The Ras homolog Rhes is also preferentially localized to the striatum. The putative co-factor Rhes has been shown to act with mHtt to cause neuronal death. Simvastatin, a lipid lowering drug, and zoledronate, a nitrogen bisphosphonate, act on the mevalonate pathway, which gives both Rhes and its target cells, binding sites. The current study aimed to interrupt the mevalonate pathway and inactivate, via de-prenylation, Rhes in CD-1 mice exposed to 3nitroproprionic acid, a neurotoxin that mimics HD mitochondrial dysfunction and striatal degeneration. Results suggest that drug treatment does not rescue motor impairments and may potentiate 3-NP damage. The persistent motor deficits are discussed in relation to possible Rhes de-prenylation.

Huntington's disease, neurodegeneration, 3-nitropropionic acid, animal model, motor deficits, Rhes, statin, bisphosphonate, prenylation

Introduction

Huntington's disease (HD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease with no known cure. Affected individuals suffer disturbances across motor, cognitive, and psychiatric domains of functioning. The disease has an autosomally dominant inheritance pattern, leaving a biological child of a HD carrier with a 50% risk of carrying the responsible gene, regardless of sex. The disease is caused by a short arm mutation on chromosome 4 that results in an expansion of the Cytosine (C) Adenine (A) Guanine (G) repeat area (MacDonald et al., 1993). Healthy people with no risk of developing HD may have up to 25 repeats while individuals with 27 to 35 are said to have an intermediate repeat length, the prognosis of which is undetermined (Killoran et al., 2013). Those with at least 36 CAG repeats are labeled as HD carriers and are presumed to eventually experience symptom onset. In non-pathological contexts, the CAG repeat encodes for a polyglutamine section of the Huntingtin (Htt) protein that plays a role in healthy neuronal functioning. With pathological CAG expansion, the mutant Huntingtin (mHtt) protein undergoes conformational and functional changes, and develops hallmark intracellular protein aggregates. HD researchers remain divided over the neurotoxic, or neuroprotective role of mHtt aggregates. The mHtt protein simultaneously exerts emergent toxic effects while preventing the normal Htt functions, the mechanism of which remains largely unknown (Cattaneo, Zuccato, & Tartari, 2005).

The brain pathology of HD is curious, and has provided researchers with a basis for numerous lines of research. The hallmark of gross brain abnormalities in HD is an extreme loss of neurons within the subcortical striatum, despite the ubiquitous expression of huntingtin throughout the entire brain and in peripheral tissues (Reiner et al., 1988). In particular, the GABAergic medium spiny neurons are lost in proportions up to 95% of the total population (Albin et al., 1992; Graveland, Williams, & DiFiglia, 1985). This finding suggests that a striatal-specific co-factor may be responsible for the frank cell death. One such putative contributor is Ras homologue enriched in the striatum (Rhes), a protein expressed preferentially in the striatum (Falk et al., 1999). Although the exact mechanisms of HD degeneration are yet to be fully understood, Rhes remains a promising lead for the few research groups worldwide who have pursued it.

The gross cell death seen in HD brains is indicative of the highly pervasive clinical deficits associated with the disease. The first formal description of what is now known as HD was penned by George Huntington and accurately describes the experience of HD patients (1895). He noted the involuntary, choreic movements, as well as other behavioral and psychiatric disturbances that could manifest into a dementia. Importantly, he also wrote that the condition affected families, rather than random individuals. HD has a lifetime prevalence rate of 4-8 per 100,000 individuals of European descent, with symptom onset typically between the ages of 30 and 50 (Craufurd, Thompson, & Snowden, 2001; Harper, 1992). Barring non-HD associated mortality, the symptoms progress for the next 10-15 years until death. Thus, from the time a HD carrier experiences the earliest symptoms until the time of death, they are subjected to a psychologically and physically painful deterioration. The most vivid example of this distress comes from the high rate of suicide within HD populations that was evident even as George Huntington wrote the first medical account (Schoenfeld et al., 1984).

Clinical Features

Despite inconsistent reports of specific symptom profiles, it is well known that some psychiatric, behavioral, and cognitive changes emerge before the telltale motor deficits (de Boo et al., 1997; Paulsen et al., 2014a). Furthermore, performance on certain cognitive tasks, such as those incorporating motor planning or sensory functioning, can predict motor symptom onset (Harrington, Smith, Zhang, Carlozzi, & Paulsen, 2012). Cognitive changes experienced by preclinical HD carriers are most evident on timed tasks and include problems with emotion perception (Novak et al., 2012), executive functioning (Papp et al., 2013), attention and working memory (Lemiere, Decruyenaere, Evers-Kiebooms, Vandenbussche, & Dom, 2004), and visuomotor control (Say et al., 2011). The onset of symptoms is significantly based upon the number of CAG repeats one has, and rate of clinical decline accelerates as time goes on (Andrew et al., 1993; Rosenblatt et al., 2012).

Estimates of lifetime prevalence rate among HD patients for psychiatric symptoms, varies between 33% and 76%, based on specific assessment methodologies (van Duijn, Kingma, & van der Mast, 2007). Such symptoms are often more distressing, over motor symptoms, and are an important point of consideration when caregivers and patients are deciding on hospitalization options (Hamilton et al., 2003). Three clusters of psychiatric features, each with its own longitudinal trajectory, have emerged in the research: apathy, irritability, and depression. Apathy may continually progress over time and throughout the disease. Irritability increases throughout the disease, but more so in early stages,

perhaps due to lifestyle adjustments and tiresome coping processes. Lastly, depression, the most common psychiatric symptom, is a point of contention. Many hold that depression is most common in the middle stages of the disease, while others point out increased rates as early as pre-clinical years (Julien et al., 2007; Paulsen et al., 2005). Demonstrated declines in depression may be due to anti-depressant medication relief (Thompson et al., 2012). In later stages, psychiatric functioning can deteriorate until psychosis emerges. In 5%-16% of HD patients, schizophrenia-like psychosis occurs, complete with paranoid delusions and auditory hallucinations (Tsuang et al., 2000).

Striatal degeneration is directly responsible for the prototypical symptom of HD, chorea (from the modern Greek, "*dance*"), *as* well as many other motor features. Chorea refers to unwanted, involuntary movements of extremities that can be described as dance-like. Beginning usually in distal extremities, e.g. digits and small facial muscles, these twitches develop from mild to moderate classification (Roos, 2010). Early and pre-clinical indications are abnormal saccadic eye movements, brisk muscle stretches, and decreased ability to quickly alternate movements (Penney et al., 1990). Slower reaction times are sometimes also cited, but like other early indicators of imminent disease, the literature is inconsistent on this point (de Boo et al., 1997; de Boo, Tibben, Hermans, Maat, & Roos, 1998; Kirkwood et al., 2000). Descriptions of the early symptoms are continuously revised, as researchers search for the most sensitive behavioral markers. In addition, akinesia, bradykinesia, slowness in performing movement, dystonia, and abnormal and contorted posturing, are well agreed upon symptoms displayed at various time points in the disease course (Rosas et al., 2008). Motor impersistance, or the

inability to maintain any voluntary muscle contraction may also be a unique and sensitive measure of disease severity (Gordon, Quinn, Reilmann, & Marder, 2000).

Gross Brain Pathology

As mentioned previously, the striatum experiences the most severe degradation in HD, but recent evidence shows that several other brain regions are also affected. In addition to detecting global volume changes, structural brain imaging techniques illustrate HD pathology in the human cortex, cerebellum, hippocampus, basal ganglia output structures, and brainstem nuclei (Aylward et al., 2011; Rees et al., 2014; van den Bogaard et al., 2011; Hobbs et al., 2010). Like striatal loss, some such alterations are apparent even before clinical diagnosis or onset of identifiable symptoms (Paulsen et al., 2010; Paulsen et al., 2014b). Within the cortex, projection neurons in layers III, V, and VI are particularly vulnerable in HD (Hedreen, Peyser, Folstein, & Ross, 1991; Jackson et al., 1995). Smaller interneurons are largely preserved in the cortex, as they are in the striatum (Cudkowicz & Kowall, 1990). Progressive cortical loss presents across all lobes, encompassing sensory and motor cortices. However, like phenotypes at any given point in disease progression, cortical changes are heterogeneous across individuals (Nana et al., 2014). Cortical thinning patterns can be tied to specific impairments, even within a class of symptoms. Rosas et al. show (2008) that individuals with greater bradykinesia and dystonia, compared to choreic movements, demonstrate greater cortical thinning in areas that are affected later in the thinning progression. Specifically, greater reductions are seen in anterior frontal cortices, including the pre-motor and supplementary motor areas, without observed striatal differences. Furthermore, cognitive impairments are also

correlated to extrastriatal atrophy (Peinemann et al., 2005). The finding of variable brain loss across individuals, regardless of CAG repeat length or disease severity, pushes researchers to more closely examine extra-striatal regions and attempt to map obscure inter-related functioning (Waldvogel, Kim, Thu, Tippett, & Faull, 2012).

Throughout the brain, connective white matter displays evidence of compromise, also (Poudel et al., 2014). The corpus callosum, composed principally of input fibers from cortical areas, shows early signs of deterioration which progress in a temporally predictable manner, many years prior to the onset of behavioral symptoms and even before measurable atrophy. Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) and fractional anisotropy (FA) analyses reveal microstructural changes indicating possible dysmyelination, demyelination, degradation away from source projection neurons, reduced density of white matter projections, and directional disruption within axonal pathways (Rosas et al., 2010). Pre-clinical white matter disturbances are also shown within the same cortical areas associated with the earliest callosal loss, i.e. the sensorimotor cortices (Dumas et al., 2012). In fact, white matter loss within the sensorimotor cortex can be used to predict the probability of near symptom onset (Paulsen et al., 2010). Importantly, HD researchers are now able to tie motor, cognitive and psychiatric impairments to regional white matter disturbances depicting specific cortico-basal ganglia circuits (Delmaire et al., 2013).

Striatal Brain Pathology

Despite emerging literature on extrastriatal contributions to disease profiles, the striatum remains the most severely affected brain region in HD. This subcortical region is

the main input structure of the basal ganglia, a set of structures responsible for behavioral activation. In humans, the striatum is composed of the caudate nucleus and putamen. Both receive input from the cortex, the thalamus, and the substantia nigra pars compacta. Striatal output projects to the cortex via connections in the thalamus, substantia nigra pars reticulata, and the globus pallidus (Kandel, Schwartz, & Jessell, 2000). The striatum connects to the cortex via topographically organized thalamocortical circuits specializing in motor and cognitive functions, posing vast targets for HD dysfunction (Bohanna, Georgiou-Karistianis, & Egan, 2011). The motor loop, which governs the planning and execution of movement, connects the putamen with pre-motor, primary sensorimotor, and supplementary motor cortices. Cortical centers for cognition including the frontal and posterior parietal lobes also connect reciprocally to the caudate (Alexander, DeLong, & Strick, 1986). Using diffusion weighted MRI data, anatomical connections throughout the basal ganglia, thalamus, and cortex are apparent and show significant overlap in the prefrontal, premotor, and motor cortices (Draganski et al., 2008). In summary, striatal degeneration has far-reaching effects on other brain areas.

The motor loop appears to be predominantly affected in HD. Using DTI, Bohanna and colleagues (2011) show that in HD patients, the most marked differences to healthy controls are found in striatal areas connected to the primary motor cortex and somatosensory cortices. In this study, HD patients show volume reduction and microstructure abnormalities in both the caudate and the putamen. HD motor symptoms are most closely correlated with increased mean diffusivity of water in grey and white matter, signaling reduction in cell density or compromised membrane integrity. Another

study reports mean diffusivity increases in grey matter of the putamen, the pallidum and the thalamus, though not in the caudate (Douaud et al., 2009). FA data further suggests alterations in fiber organization in HD. Increases in white matter FA, compared to control subjects, signals increase in coherent fiber organization, whereas in grey matter, increases are related to cell body loss and efferent pathways, indirectly increasing organization. Increased FA in the putamen is consistently related to HD status in HD patients (Bohanna, et al., 2011; Douaud et al., 2009) and in pre-symptomatic or pre-clinical gene carriers (Kloppel et al., 2008). Increases are seen also in the caudate, though less consistently. The different FA patterns in the striatum could be because afferent and efferent pathways are, normally, less organized in the caudate than in the putamen (Douaud et al., 2009). Importantly, several studies demonstrate associations between striatal diffusivity and FA measures and performance on motor and neuropsychological tests, as well as disease duration. Even in pre-clinical HD, FA data in the putamen is positively correlated with the probability of diagnosis in the next five years (Magnotta et al., 2009), while multimodal approaches, using volumetric and diffusion methods, have successfully characterized pre-clinical carriers as early as 15 years before symptom onset (Georgiou-Karistianis et al., 2013). In early HD, increased diffusivity in the putamen and the caudate are positively correlated with global functional impairment and to the CAG repeat length, which largely determines age of onset of symptoms (Seppi et al., 2006).

While DTI data provide structural clues as to the pattern of degeneration within HD, fMRI data indicates impaired cortico-striatal functional communication in pre-clinical stages, as well. Unschuld et al. (2012) uses fMRI during a resting state to investigate

functional connectivity in pre-clinical HD carriers. Synchrony of blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) signals between the caudate and twelve cortical seeds serves as a measure of functional communication (van de Ven, Formisano, Prvulovic, Roeder, & Linden, 2004). First, carriers show significantly decreased caudate and putaminal volumes compared to healthy age matched controls, corroborating numerous reports of reduced striatal volume and increased rate of atrophy in carriers (Aylward et al., 2004; Aylward, 2007; Paulsen et al., 2010). In addition, carriers have significantly decreased BOLD synchrony between the caudate and the premotor cortex, while synchrony with adjacent areas in the motor cortex are at the trend level (Unschuld et al., 2012). A moderate degree of variance in connectivity change can be explained by caudate atrophy, however unexplained variance suggests possible signaling dysfunction stemming from deficient inter-cellular and intra-cellular processes.

Huntingtin Protein

Despite the massive literature on HD, the wild-type or normal huntingtin protein's function remains elusive. Its complete structure and numerous functions are yet to be fully characterized, slowing the discovery of a proven clinical therapy or cure. No other known protein is homologous to huntingtin. Unlike other proteins with a high molecular weight (~348 kDa, depending on individualized structure), it is completely soluble and is expressed throughout the human and rodent body, and ubiquitously in the brain (Cattaneo et al., 2005). The central nervous system and the testes show the highest concentrations (Gil & Rego, 2008). Huntingtin is made up of 3,144 amino acids, of which only a few motifs have been identified. Included in the known structural components are the

following: a polyglutamine tract, an adjacent region rich in the non-essential amino acid proline, and 4 clusters of HEAT repeats (named for the first 4 proteins they were found in: Huntingtin, Elongation factor 3, the A subunit of protein phosphatase 2A, and TOR1), which are sequences of ~40 amino acids duplicated at various points along the protein (Andrade, Petosa, O'Donoghue, Muller, & Bork, 2001; Li & Li, 2004).

At the subcellular level, huntingtin is widely distributed throughout several compartments, serving as a complicating factor for researchers focused on functional identification. The protein is localized to both nuclear and cytoplasmic structures, such as the endoplasmic reticulum, the Golgi apparatus, synaptic vesicles, and mitochondria, as well as neurites (DiFiglia, Sapp, Chase, Schwarz, Meloni, Young et al., 1995; DiFiglia et al., 1995; Hilditch-Maguire et al., 2000; Kegel et al., 2002; Li, Plomann, & Brundin, 2003). Interestingly, evolutionary focused research proposes that the neural localization of Htt is a relatively new occurrence (Kauffman, Zinovyeva, Yagi, Makabe, & Raff, 2003).

Original insights into possible functions stem from huntingtin's structure. The polyglutamine tail, starting at the 18th amino acid position, elongates to no more than 25 repeats, under healthy circumstances (MacDonald et al., 1993). Early work suggests that the multiple glutamines formed a "polar zipper", facilitating binding between huntingtin and other polyglutamine-containing transcription factors, like brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Perutz, 1994). In fact, Htt interacts with multiple partners (Harjes & Wanker, 2003; Zuccato, Valenza, & Cattaneo, 2010).

Htt is thought to be involved in a host of important neural functions, such as, cytoskeletal anchoring, postsynaptic signaling, transcriptional regulation, and intracellular regulation of apoptosis (Caviston & Holzbaur, 2009; Gil & Rego, 2008; Kegel et al., 2002; Rigamonti et al., 2000). Not surprisingly, Htt is necessary for developing embryos. Reductions or elimination of Htt results in serious or fatal defects in the endodermal and neural plate tissue, respectively (Dragatsis, Efstratiadis, & Zeitlin, 1998; Henshall et al., 2009).

Because HEAT repeats are present in many other large eukaryotic proteins involved in nuclear and cytoplasmic transport processes, as well as chromosome separation, the same may be true for Htt (Neuwald & Hirano, 2000). The poly-proline portion is thought necessary for the formation of mHtt inclusion bodies or aggregates, perhaps by affecting solubility (Steffan et al., 2004). Htt also has a Carboxyl-terminal nuclear export signal (NES) and a less active, non-conventional nuclear localization signal, indicating a protein and vesicle transport role. These elements allow for the movement of Htt in and away from the nucleus, likely as part of a larger nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling complex. Importantly, the NES is cleaved away in mHtt, leaving the protein able to enter the nucleus, but not exit (Xia, Lee, Taylor, Vandelft, & Truant, 2003).

Mutant Huntingtin (mHtt)

Evidence suggests that HD pathology may not only be the gain of aberrant mHtt function but also the loss of wild-type Htt function (Landles & Bates, 2004). In fact, the

many proposed HD mechanisms are all said to be driven by the decreased expression of functional Htt, the increased expression of mHtt, or by both. The hallmark histopathological finding in HD is the presence of intra- and extra-nuclear inclusion bodies within neurons of all cortical layers and medium sized striatal neurons (Davies et al., 1997; DiFiglia et al., 1997). HD aggregates differ in composition, with nuclear bodies consisting mostly of N-terminal mHtt fragments and extra-nuclear bodies consisting of both fragments and full length mHtt (Cooper et al., 1998; Martindale et al., 1998). Aggregation is caused by the expanded polyglutamine portion of mHtt, which induces a conformational change and subsequently initiates downstream pathogenesis. In healthy cases, exon 1 of Htt has an N-terminal α helical structure (Kim, Chelliah, Kim, Otwinowski, & Bezprozvanny, 2009). The shape is flexible and transforms into a welldefined α helix, a random coil, or a loosely-bound and extended loop conformation at various, randomly determined points along the glutamine chain. This flexibility creates a low threshold for interference from outside influences, such as length of polyglutamine tract and neighboring protein motifs (Kim, Chelliah, Kim, Otwinowski, & Bezprozvanny, 2009). In mHtt's first exon, the flexibility in shape is a disadvantage. In this case, the random coil portion of the polyglutamine expansion misfolds into a hairpin structure, described as two non-parallel β strands and a sharp turn (de Mezer, Wojciechowska, Napierala, Sobczak, & Krzyzosiak, 2011).

Two, non-mutually exclusive pathways to aggregation are proposed. The first involves proteolysis, the process by which proteins are either partially degraded into peptides, or completely broken down into amino acids. Specifically, N-terminal mHtt is cleaved by

two classes of protease enzymes, caspases (notably caspase-3 and caspase-6) and calpains, which leave behind mHtt fragments with a particular propensity for diffusing into the nucleus and forming inclusion bodies (Gafni & Ellerby, 2002; Goldberg et al., 1996; Graham et al., 2006). mHtt fragments recruit further proteases, thereby creating a positive feedback loop resulting in amplified aggregation until, possibly, the cell ultimately dies (Gil & Rego, 2008). Secondly, aggregation can stem from mHtt protein misfolding, a phenomenon which Htt protects against (Fink, 1999). Normally, chaperones such as heat-shock protein 70 (Hsp70) and heat-shock protein 40 (Hsp40) coordinate to correct misfoldings and maintain the solubility of Htt (Hartl & Hayer-Hartl, 2002). If misfoldings remain after these chaperones are active, the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) acts as a secondary degradation mechanism for target proteins (Voges, Zwickl, & Baumeister, 1999). Working alongside the UPS is the even more capable autophagic machinery. Autophagy, sometimes called macroautophagy, can degrade even large structures, such as entire organelles. It is not known how the two systems coordinate, but there is evidence of a bidirectional influence (Korolchuk, Menzies, & Rubinsztein, 2010). Despite these multiple protections, if the misfolded mHtt protein generates faster than the degradation buffers can act, aggregation will begin. Exacerbation occurs while the important chaperones and proteasomes are further sequestered within the aggregates (Hay et al., 2004; Martin-Aparicio et al., 2001).

Controversy remains over the role of mHtt aggregates in HD neurodegeneration. Traditionally, researchers have viewed mHtt aggregates as cytotoxic. This argument cites evidence of intracellular aggregates in several neurodegenerative diseases and the

correlation between aggregation and cell death (Yang, Dunlap, Andrews, & Wetzel, 2002). Aggregates, generally, do seize important proteins that also contain a polyglutamine tract and that normally facilitate or regulate transcription, as well as parts of the essential proteasome safeguards (Cha, 2007). Overexpression of proteasome components reduces aggregation and prolongs cell life in transgenic and cell models of HD (Carmichael et al., 2000; Vacher, Garcia-Oroz, & Rubinsztein, 2005). Others contend that aggregation is noncausal and incidental to cellular dysfunction (Kuemmerle et al., 1999). Post-mortem human HD brains demonstrate the highest number of aggregates in the cortex, rather than the most severely affected striatum, suggesting such an incidental role (Gutekunst et al., 1999). Examination also found that neuropil aggregates in dendrites and dendritic spines are much more common than nuclear aggregates. Furthermore, non-CNS tissue also displays a number of mHtt aggregates (Moffitt, McPhail, Woodman, Hobbs, & Bates, 2009). Importantly, a mouse model containing only a fragment of the full length HD gene indicates it is not the aggregates that drive neuronal loss. The model displays early and widespread neuronal nuclear inclusions, without signs of neuronal dysfunction or cell death (Slow et al., 2005).

Still a third argument describes the neuroprotective capacity of aggregates. As mHtt continues to be sequestered by aggregates, the amount of diffuse or soluble form of mHtt in other cell locations theoretically decreases. Alterations in the length, and thus aggregation, of mHtt have shown related decreases in the number of neuronal aggregates and death (Ratovitski et al., 2009). Survival analysis shows that inclusions actually predict cell survival, indicating the presence of aggregation could be a coping mechanism

of the cell (Arrasate, Mitra, Schweitzer, Segal, & Finkbeiner, 2004). Interestingly it has been found that aggregates also sequester mTOR, a protein responsible for suppressing autophagy (Ravikumar et al., 2004). This kinase suppresses autophagy which alleviates toxicity and behavioral symptoms of HD (Jia, Hart, & Levine, 2007).

Rhes Protein

Present work builds from important findings from the Snyder lab at Johns Hopkins University showing the neuroprotective nature of mHtt aggregation and the protein Rhes' contribution to HD neuropathology. As evident in its name, Rhes or the Ras homolog enriched in the striatum, is preferentially located in the neural regions most vulnerable to degeneration. Rhes is an intermediate sized guanine-nucleotide binding protein (Falk et al., 1999). Similar to prototypical Ras family proteins, Rhes has guanosine triphosphate (GTP) binding and effector domains and a CAAX box (composed of a Cysteine which attaches to membranes, two aliphatic amino Acids, and one of several amino acids, X). It also has an extended C terminal, adding to its molecular weight (Falk et al., 1999; Harrison, 2012). The full functions of Rhes have yet to be elucidated but clear evidence has been found implicating Rhes in striatal GPCR signaling at the level of intracellular messaging cascades (Harrison & LaHoste, 2006; Spano et al., 2004 (Lee et al., 2011).

Rhes binds to mHtt to a greater extent than the protein binds with Htt. Subramaniam and colleagues (2009) show that Rhes overexpression in cells containing mHtt decreases cell survival by 50%. Such a decrease does not occur when either Rhes or mHtt is

overexpressed individually, nor is it shown in cells expressing both Rhes and Htt. Furthermore, Rhes depletion, through RNA interference, increases cell survival. Likewise, they find that, in mHtt, but not Htt, knock-in striatal cells, overexpression of Rhes further decreases cell survival by 60% overall (Subramaniam, Sixt, Barrow, & Snyder, 2009).

Rhes is argued to influence neuronal death by influencing sumoylation. Sumoylation is a post-translational modification process in which a small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) is covalently attached to various proteins causing a change in functioning. When mHtt undergoes sumoylation, aggregation is reduced and neurotoxicity is increased. This finding lends support to the notion that non-aggregated, soluble mHtt is toxic (Steffan et al., 2004). Rhes enhances sumoylation of mHtt in a time- and concentration-dependent manner; thus, the potential cofactor is responsible for the disaggregation of mHtt bodies and consequential cytotoxicity (Subramaniam et al., 2009). Novel in vivo work demonstrates that HD mice without the Rhes gene are less susceptible to the motor deficits and neuropathological markers of HD, corroborating a cytotoxic role for Rhes (Baiamonte, 2012). However, contradicting evidence using RNA interference against Rhes mRNA shows the opposite effect behaviorally (Lee et al., 2014).

Furthermore, Rhes has independent influence on autophagy, a process that cells utilize to clear not only soluble mHtt but also aggregates. Findings paint a complicated picture where Rhes can have both anti- and pro-autophagic effects. Subramaniam et al. (2012) show that Rhes has a high affinity to binding autophagic factors likely a result of Rhes'

uniquely extended C-terminal which promotes binding in general (Subramaniam et al., 2012). Rhes bound to and activated both mTOR complexes 1 and 2. These complexes are known to inhibit autophagy. The Rhes-mTOR interaction was evident in striatal culture and tissue. However, the same group later found that in culture, Rhes can induce autophagy by circumventing mTOR and activating a regulator, Beclin-1, resulting in increased autophagy. Interestingly, co-expression with mHtt blocked Rhes' pro-autophagy influence (Mealer, Murray, Shahani, Subramaniam, & Snyder, 2014).

Mevalonate Pathway

In searching for therapeutic strategies focused on Rhes intervention, the current study looks toward the structure of Rhes as a potential target. Like other small GTPbinding proteins and Ras family proteins, Rhes shares a prenylated chemical structure (Hancock, Magee, Childs, & Marshall, 1989; Takai, Sasaki, & Matozaki, 2001; Vargiu et al., 2004). Prenylation, or isoprenylation, is the process by which at least one prenyl group, farnesylpyrophosphate (FPP) or geranylgeranylpyrophosphate (GGPP), is added to the C-terminal cysteine(s) of peptides and proteins by farnesyltransferase or geranylgeranyltransferase, respectively. The hydrophobic prenyl groups serve several purposes, including anchoring to cell membranes or to other proteins. After prenylation, Ras proteins undergo proteolysis and C-terminal methylation (Backlund, Simonds, & Spiegel, 1990; Zhang & Casey, 1996). Proteolysis and methylation facilitate proper membrane anchoring, but the initial prenylation is essential. Prenylation occurs as a downstream mevalonate pathway change, which is one of the most studied biological synthesis pathways in the human body. Also known as the 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-

CoA (HMG-CoA) pathway, the cascade most notably produces cholesterol and assists a multitude of functions, such as cell respiration, hormone production and maintaining membrane integrity (See Figure 1; Fritz, 2009).



The mevalonate pathway, with Rhes depicted, and the interfering classes of drugs. HMG-CoA: 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl- CoA; BPPs: nitrogen bisphosphonates; PP: pyrophosphate; FTIs: farnesyltransferase inhibitors; GGTIs: geranylgeranyltransferase inhibitors

Given that the numerous mevalonate pathway metabolites influence such a diverse group of proteins, therapeutic interference is explored in various disease models.

Pharmaceutical techniques can inhibit CAAX box post-translational modification by acting at intermediate stages or inhibit the pathway's key enzyme, HMG-CoA reductase, at the start of the pathway (Goldstein & Brown, 1990). Farnesyltransferase inhibitors (FTIs) and geranylgeranyltransferase inhibitors (GGTIs) prevent the protein prenylation. By preventing the transfer of farnesyl, geranygeranyl groups, or both, to CAAX box motifs, these drugs stop prenylated proteins from attaching to cell membranes, thereby interfering with signal transduction (Goldstein & Brown, 1990). Similarly, nitrogen bisphosphonates prevent prenylation by acting above FTIs and GGTIs in the pathway. This class of drugs targets farneysyldiphosphate or farneyslpyrophosphate synthase (FPPS), which is necessary for downstream prenylation (Goffinet et al., 2006). Since small GTP proteins, like H-, K-, and N-Ras, are the most common culprits of oncogenic mutations, there has been an impressive exploration of oncogenic therapies utilizing FTIs, GGTIs, and bisphosphonates (Drake & Cremers, 2010; Gao, Liao, & Yang, 2009). Animal models show benefits to Ras prenylation inhibition in colon, pancreatic, lung, prostate, bladder, and breast cancer (Ayral-Kaloustian & Salaski, 2002).

While nitrogen bisphosphonates take action toward the end of the mevalonate pathway, statins act at the beginning, inhibiting HMG-CoA reductase, which serves as the ratelimiting enzyme, producing mevalonate (Kuzuyama & Seto, 2012). Statins are best known for their clinical application in cholesterol management but they may prove useful in treating Alzheimer's disease (AD) and other dementia states. Epidemiological studies show that chronic statin use is associated with decreased risk for AD (Jick, Zornberg, Jick, Seshadri, & Drachman, 2000). In vitro and in vivo work shows that statins reduce amyloid beta protein production that cause neural plaques in AD (Fassbender et al., 2001; Simons et al., 1998). Statins likely have therapeutic effects based on the regulation of isoprenoids, necessary for prenylation. Mevalonate derived compounds, FPP and GGPP are dramatically elevated in human AD brains. In vivo treatment with simvastatin, a highly potent statin that is able to cross the blood-brain barrier, significantly reduces both isoprenoids in mice (Eckert et al., 2009). Clinical trials using statins have shown mixed results, though the cholesterol pathway hypothesis of AD remains prominent (Hoglund & Blennow, 2007).

Because HD and AD are both neurodegenerative diseases involving intranuclear inclusion bodies and possible Ras contribution, HD researchers have taken a cue and are beginning to explore what the mevalonate pathway contributes to the disease. Valenza and colleagues (2005) found altered cholesterol biosynthesis resulting in lower overall cholesterol mass in cultured mHtt cells, as well as cortical and striatal tissue of HD mice. Importantly, by adding exogenous cholesterol into striatal mHtt neurons, they were able to rescue the cells in a dose dependent manner.

Relatedly, Del Toro and colleagues argue that augmented cholesterol homeostasis in HD takes the form of cholesterol accumulation and altered cellular distribution that contributes to excitotoxicity (2010). Not only is accumulation documented in striatal neurons and tissue of mHtt mice, but mHtt cells show an increased level of cholesterol

and altered distribution in the plasma membrane and intracellular deposits (Trushina et al., 2006). Not surprisingly, cultured striatal cells and neurons that contained mHtt also demonstrate an increase in cholesterol-rich, highly ordered portions of the plasma membrane and those in the cytosol (Valencia et al., 2010). Healthy Htt cells have only sporadic places of highly ordered domains, with more fluid membranes in the cytosol. Because NMDA receptors are located within such high cholesterol areas, known as lipid rafts, the extent of membrane order influences how susceptible neurons are to NMDA mediated excitotoxicity. Simvastatin causes decreases in plasma membrane order, reduces lipid rafts, and protects against NMDA excitotoxicity in both Htt and mHtt cells (Ponce et al., 2008). Interestingly, simvastatin treatment does not reduce overall cholesterol levels, supporting earlier work which suggested simvastatin redistributes plasma cholesterol content in other brain areas (Burns, Igbavboa, Wang, Wood, & Duff, 2006; Paolisso et al., 1991).

Statins' blocking of downstream protein prenylation affects more than membrane configuration. Statins, like nitrogen bisphosphonates, prevent the synthesis of isoprenoids FPP and GGPP, which as described above, are necessary for the anchoring of prenylated proteins to membranes or other proteins (Jasinska, Owczarek, & Orszulak-Michalak, 2007). Since Rhes is prenylated, de-prenylation techniques have been used previously, showing prevention of the normal sumoylation and subsequent disaggregation of mHtt, as well as Rhes-mediated cytotoxicity (Subramaniam et al., 2009). Thus, statins and nitrogen bisphosphonates offer the potential for clinically relevant means to inhibition of Rhes prenylation, an important step toward unlocking a treatment for HD.

In summary, statins and nitrogen bisphosphonates hold promising potential for HD pathology on two fronts. First, statins' cholesterol lowering effects could attenuate cholesterol accumulations found in striatal neurons of HD patients and mice. A decrease in such accumulations is protective against NMDA-mediated excitotoxicity, one proposed mechanism of HD degeneration. More relevant to the proposed research, statins and nitrogen bisphosphonates may pharmacologically interfere with the putative cofactor, Rhes. By compromising plasma membrane integrity and blocking prenyl group synthesis, the drugs could prevent the prenylation of Rhes, thus, rendering the striatally expressed protein largely inactive. Since the drugs act at different steps in the mevalonate pathway, the size and number of both target and any pleiotropic effects also likely differs, offering a potentiating effect of treatment with both compounds (Vincenzi et al., 2003). Combination therapies are beginning to be explored in some of the various disease models involving prenylated proteins (Blondel et al., 2014; Issat et al., 2007; Varela et al., 2008).

3-Nitropropionic Acid

To examine the mevalonate pathway mechanisms as they apply to HD, a disease model must be chosen carefully. Despite the usefulness of transgenic animal models of HD, in rodents and flies, the majority of animal HD research is conducted with chemical models which induce cell death and dysfunction (Tunez, Tasset, Perez-De La Cruz, & Santamaria, 2010). Such models offer a faster onset and, possibly, a faster physical decline than transgenic models, whether they employ quinolinic, malonic, kainic, or 3-

nitropropionic acid (3-NP). Derived from various fungi and plants, 3-NP was first described after infected American cattle demonstrated poor motor coordination and eventual paralysis. In fact, bodily uptake can mimic HD motor impairments (Ludolph, He, Spencer, Hammerstad, & Sabri, 1991).

3-NP is a toxin that disrupts the energy metabolism within brain cells. Exposure to 3-NP irreversibly inhibits succinate dehydrogenase, or complex II of the electron transport chain and Krebs cycle, which triggers a cascade of events culminating in neuronal death within the striatum (Alston, Mela, & Bright, 1977). Complex II inhibition causes multiple pathogenic mechanisms to take action, each contributing to apoptotic or necrotic cell death. By disrupting the mitochondrial membrane potential, adenosine triphosphate (ATP) depletion occurs, preventing Na^+ and Ca^{2+} from exiting the cell, leaving a state of depolarization. The NMDA receptors are left susceptible to excitotoxicity by normal levels of glutamate. In addition, a flood of Ca^{2+} enters the cell, activating calcium dependent enzymes, like calpains and nitric oxide synthase. Eventually, 3-NP causes brain lesions localized specifically to the striatum (Blum, Gall, Cuvelier, & Schiffmann, 2001; {Gould and Gustine, 1982, #78719}). The lesion affects medium sized spiny GABAergic neurons, while sparing interneurons, reproducing the well-known HD pathology (Beal et al., 1993). This model also shows motor impairment similar to that seen in human populations (Kraft, Osterhaus, Ortiz, Garris, & Johnson, 2009; Ubhi et al., 2009). Thus, 3-NP treatment mimics both the mitochondrial dysfunction, the preferential striatal degradation, and observable motor deficits displayed in HD, along with greater logistical control than transgenic models during testing.

The 3-NP HD model has been used to show a protective effect of Rhes depletion using transgenic mice designed to have varying levels of endogenous Rhes. Mealer et al. demonstrate that Rhes knockout mice are protected against 3-NP driven neurotoxicity and motor impairment (2013). Compared to wild-type controls, Rhes knockout mice could cross an elevated beam more quickly and with more coordination. The striatal lesions in mice without endogenous Rhes were mostly non-existent, apparent only slightly in two of ten mice. Interestingly, Rhes knockout mice did not live significantly longer, speaking to the toxicity of 3-NP. While these results are impressive, a more clinically applicable Rhes-focused strategy is still required. The use of post-transcriptional gene interference targeting brain cells has inherent complications preventing accessibility in human populations. Rather, pharmacological strategies, such as statin or bisphosphonate treatment, are the ideal method of treatment. To that end, both classes of drugs are already clinically available for use in other disorders.

In addition, statin treatment has previously been shown to attenuate striatal neurodegeneration caused by 3-NP. Lee et al.describe an anti-apoptotic effect of atorvastatin in rats (2008). After 5 days of simultaneous administration of both 3-NP and atorvastatin, experimental rats showed fewer behavioral sign of neurological dysfunction, as well as smaller striatal lesions and fewer apoptotic cells (Lee et al., 2008). Importantly, this study establishes the desired therapeutic effect of a statin-class drug. However, analysis did not include a measure of HMG-CoA pathway activity or associated proteins, e.g. Rhes.

Hypotheses

Current evidence implicates Rhes in promoting solubility of mHtt, potentially leading to HD neurodegeneration. The current study sought to inactivate Rhes via deprenylation in a pharmacological model of HD, exploring the potential benefit of already clinically available drugs. Injection with 3-NP was hypothesized to mimic HD striatal lesions seen in humans, causing specific motor impairments seen in transgenic HD mouse models, compared to control mice receiving no 3-NP. Additionally, we predicted that statin and nitrogen bisphosphonate treatments would cause de-prenylation of Rhes, measured by western blot analysis, and protect against 3-NP neurotoxicity and motor impairments, measured by rotarod and clasping behavior, compared to animals receiving no drug treatment.

Methods

Animals

All procedures were carried out in this study under the approval and supervision of the University of New Orleans Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC; Protocol 15-009). All animals in this study were purchased from Harlan Laboratories (Indianapolis, IN). The particular strain of mice, CD1 mice, were chosen for their widespread use in toxicology and behavioral experiments. Animals were housed with litter mates on a 12hr light dark cycle and provided food and water without restriction. A total of 60 animals were used, equally divided and randomly assigned to 5 experimental groups. The first group is a control group receiving no 3-NP or drug treatment. The remaining four groups received 3-NP treatment along with either no drug treatment,

statin treatment alone, bisphosphonate treatment alone, or both statin and bisphosphonate treatment.

Material and Apparatus

Rotarod apparatus. The rotarod device (Med Associates, Inc., Georgia, VT) is designed to assess animal motor coordination and balance. It is made of a suspended, rotating horizontal bar attached on both sides to the center of a 38 cm-wide metal wall. The walls, and thus, the bar, rotate at a rate of 16 revolutions per minute (rpm). The bar is 30 mm in diameter and positioned 27 cm above a floor of soft bedding material. The height of the bar is intended to encourage the animal to continue walking as to avoid a fall; but in the event of falling, the bedding acts as a protective padding.

Triple beam balance. Animals' body weights were measured using an OHAUS® (Parsippany, NJ) triple beam balance. Animals were placed in an attached, covered metal container which allows for proper measurement.

Analytical balance. A Mettler Toledo (Columbus, OH) AG64 scale was used to calculate all drug quantities. The scale has the capacity to measure masses within 1 mg. It is further equipped with a glass shield which protects against drafts, minimizing environmentally caused fluctuations in reading.

Simvastatin treatment. Simvastatin (Zocor® Merck & Co., Inc. Whitehouse Station, NJ) was generously provided by Dr. Lee Roy Morgan.

Zoledronate treatment. Zoledronate was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO).

3-Nitropropionic acid. 3-NP was also purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

Procedure

Drug and 3-NP administration. All drugs or compounds, including simvastatin, zoledronate, and 3-NP, were delivered to the animals via intraperitoneal (i.p) injection over the course of 3 days. Simvastatin was chosen over several other available statins based on its higher potency, greater capacity to cross the blood brain barrier, and more widespread use clinically (Saheki, Terasaki, Tamai, & Tsuji, 1994; Shepardson, Shankar, & Selkoe, 2011). Pills were crushed using a pestle and mortar, and then sifted to filter out the pill coating. Adjustments to measurements were made to account for filler in each pill. Zoledronate was chosen based on its relatively higher potency than other bisphosphonates and its greater prevalence among in vivo designs (Russell, 2011). Although zoledronate does not cross the blood brain barrier (BBB), 3-NP severely disrupts the barrier (Duran-Vilaregut et al., 2009). For this reason, 3-NP delivery occurred first on treatment days. Drug doses were measured and then diluted with sterile phosphate-buffered saline. The Ph level of 3-NP was also balanced to 7.4 using sodium hydroxide. Animals were treated with a clinically relevant dose of 40 mg of simvastatin/kg of body weight for 3 days. Literature shows simvastatin effects in daily doses ranging from .125 mg/kg to 100 mg/kg (Aprahamian et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2011). Animals were treated with .4 mg of zoledronate/kg of body weight for 3 days. The dose of zoledronate was chosen after pilot work ruled out doses of 1mg/kg (92% mortality, n = 12) and, then, .5mg/kg (20% mortality, n = 6). For 3-NP, animals were treated with a dose of 105 mg/kg/day. This dose was based on one of the only studies to date using CD-1 mice in a 3-NP regimen (Kim & Chan, 2001) and was confirmed by a
pilot study comparing 4 doses ranging from 95 mg/kg/day to 125 mg/kg per day. The pilot study showed no mortality associated with the current dose when mice were treated for 7 days.

Motor assessment.

Rotarod performance. Using the rotarod apparatus at a fixed speed of 16 rpm, motor coordination and balance was measured after the seventh and last day of 3-NP injection and drug treatment. Latency to fall was recorded over three 60 second trials for each animal, with a 60 second rest period between each trial. If an animal remained on the rod after 60 seconds, it was removed and the time was recorded as 60 seconds. Based on established protocol and considering habituation effects shown in unpublished data of our laboratory, each animal underwent one day of habituation prior to behavioral testing and then a 60 second habituation trial prior to first testing trial. The best score over three trials was used for each animal in analyses.

Clasping behavior. Each animal's limb movements during midair, ground-facing suspension was assessed. Healthy wild-type animals normally splay their limbs outward, while transgenic and 3-NP HD model animals tend to clasp their front and back limbs inward (Fernagut et al., 2002; Mangiarini et al., 1996; Rubinsztein, 2002). Every animal was assessed during a 10 second trial, with 10 second rest periods in between, after the last of injections. For each limb that is pulled in toward the body, the animal obtained a score of 1. Thus, every trial offered a maximum score of 4. Animals were habituated on the day prior to testing. The total clasping score was used for analysis.

Body weight assessment. On each experimental day, animals' body weights were measured prior to handling. The weight was used as one of several measures of overall health and to calculate the proper amount of 3-NP, simvastatin, and zoledronate.

Health checklist. On each day of the experiment, all animals' were observed closely for indications of poor health. Animals received a score for hunching behavior, bradykinesia, pstosis (drooping of the upper eyelid) and recumbency, in addition to their recorded weight. If an animal received a score indicative of extremely poor health, the animal was sacrificed immediately, regardless of the experimental time point in order to ameliorate pain and suffering.

Preparation of Brain Tissue. Mice were taken from their cages live and promptly sacrificed by decapitation. Brains were removed from the skull, and a 2 mm medial coronal slice was removed containing the striatum. The hemispheres were divided and flash frozen by immersion in -80°C isopentane. Brains were stored in thin, protective plastic tubes at -80°C. The tissue was then used for prenylated Rhes quantification.

Prenylated Rhes Quantification. Western Blot techniques were employed in order to quantify the amount of prenylated Rhes in all experimental groups (Harrison, Muller, & Spano, 2013). Cytosol and membrane fractions were separated using the Subcellular Fractionation Kit (Thermo Scientific; Rockford, IL). Protein concentration was measured by a Bradford assay (Bio-Rad; Hercules, CA). Protein concentration was obtained for each sample with a spectrophotometer. Proteins were then separated using

SDS-PAGE methods with polyacrylamide TGX gels (Bio-Rad) and transferred to PVDF membranes. Membranes were first probed for MEK protein to ensure successful fractionation. Afterwards membranes were stripped with OneMinute Stripping buffer (GM Biosciences; Rockville, MD) and then probed for Rhes. Membranes were blocked with a nonfat dry milk and TBS-T (20 mM Tris Buffered Saline and .1% Tween) mixture for 60 minutes at room temperature and then incubated at 4° overnight in TBS-T with 5% BSA and anti-Rhes antibody (Fabgennix; Frisco, TX) at a dilution of 1:500. Anti-rabbit secondary antibody containing horseradish peroxidase was used at a dilution of 1:2000 in 5% milk for 60 minutes at room temperature (Cell Signaling; Danver, MA). After washing in TBS-T, blots incubated in Super Signal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Thermo Scientific) for 15 minutes. Bands were visualized and analyzed using QuantityOne software (Bio-rad).

Results

Analyses were performed using SPSS for Windows version 23.0 with the probability of a Type I error set at 0.05. For rotarod, clasping, weight, and Rhes expression a one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) between the 5 experimental groups was conducted. Bonferroni's follow up tests were conducted in the presence of a significant main effect of group differences, unless homogeneity of variance was violated, in which case a Games-Howell correction was used.

Rotarod Performance

Rotarod performance data are depicted in Figure 2. Animals' best performance across three trials on the spinning rotarod was used for group comparisons. The best performance was defined as the longest time spent on the rotarod before falling, or the longest latency to fall. Levene's test of homogeneity of variance showed significantly different variance across groups, p < .05. To correct for this violation, a Welch's analysis of rotarod performance was conducted and revealed a significant difference between groups [F (4, 16.97) = 21.99, p < .01]. Post-hoc comparisons, using the Games-Howell method, show that the healthy control group (M = 152.80, SD = 33.32) that received only vehicle injections did significantly better than all groups treated with 3-NP (see Table 1). This difference confirms that there was a deleterious effect of the toxin on rotarod performance. In contrast to hypotheses, no significant differences between the groups receiving 3-NP were found, regardless of drug treatment.



Figure 2. Rotarod performance is displayed as latency to fall from rod in seconds. Group means are shown with standard error. Sim = simvastatin. Zol = zoledronate.

Rotarod Performance			
<u>Group</u>	Mean (s)	Standard Deviation	
Healthy	58	6.01	
3-NP	31	23.39	
3-NP + Sim	27.89	25.07	
3-NP + Zol	17.14	20	
3-NP + Sim + Zol	12	15.75	

Table 1. Mean rotarod performances are presented as latency to fall off rotarod in seconds. Sim = simvastatin. Zol = zoledronate.

Clasping

Clasping behavior is summarized in Table 2. Analysis failed to reveal any significant difference between groups [F (4, 39) = .50, p > .05]. Therefore, no post-hoc comparisons were computed. Overall, only 5 of 38 3-NP mice that were alive at time of behavioral testing showed any clasping behavior.

01	•	D 1 1	
1 100	ning	Rabavior	
Cias	SUTTER 1	DEHAVIO	
	r0		

1 0		
Group	Mean	Standard Deviation
Healthy	0	0
3-NP	1	2.34
3-NP + Sim	.33	1
3-NP + Zol	1.14	3.02
3-NP + Sim + Zol	.63	1.77

Table 2. Mean clasping behaviors are totals of limbs clasped over three trials. Sim = simvastatin. Zol = zoledronate.

Weight

Weight observances are summarized in Table 3. Analysis of the animals' weight

after injections showed a significant between group effect [F (4,53) = 3.54, p < .05].

Similar to rotarod performance, post-hoc comparisons showed only differences between

healthy control animals (M = 41.67, SD = 2.47) and all 3-NP groups.

<u>Mean</u>	Standard Deviation
40.86	1.75
37.29	2.77
38.11	2.42
37.64	4.55
39.69	3.49
	<u>Mean</u> 40.86 37.29 38.11 37.64 39.69

Table 3. Weights were measured on last day of life. Sim = simvastatin. Zol = zoledronate.

Mortality

Although pilot studies conducted separately for 3-NP and zoledronate guided the current doses, mortality did occur. In the 3-NP alone group, 1 mouse died after the third injection (8%). Comparatively, the simvastatin (33%) and combination simvastatin/zoledronate group contained 4 mice that died or were sacrificed according to IACUC guidelines, after the third injection (36%). In the zoledronate group, 5 mice died after the third injection (45%).

Rhes Expression

For Western blot data (Table 4), a ratio of cytosolic:membrane bound protein optical density was calculated for each animal represented. The drug groups were then normalized to account for the ratio observed in the 3-NP alone group and then compared to each-other. Levene's test of homogeneity of variance was violated, p < .05. Welch's analysis did not show any significant differences between groups [F (3, 1.80) = .31, p >.05]. The pattern of expression in the protein bands makes this assay difficult to interpret. The control animal which received only vehicle injections displayed greater protein in the cytosolic portion, in contrast to previous findings showing Rhes localization to the plasma membrane.

Rhes expression		
<u>Group</u>	Mean	Standard Deviation
Healthy	0	0
3-NP	1	2.34
3-NP + Sim	.34	1
3-NP + Zol	1.14	3.02
3-NP + Sim + Zol	.63	1.77

Table 4. Rhes expression was measured by western blot and the ratio of cytosolic: membrane optical density of protein bands is shown. Sim = simvastatin. Zol = zoledronate.

Discussion

Interpretation of Findings

Corroborating pilot data, the results show that treatment with simvastatin, zoledronate, and a combination of both failed to improve motor deficits associated with 3-NP. Several possible explanations for this finding exist. First, the lack of behavioral improvement may stem from failure of the drugs to de-prenylated the target protein, Rhes, which is thought to contribute to HD neuropathology. Here, behavioral data is interpreted with regard to Western data of Rhes expression. Unfortunately, Western blots probed for Rhes neither support nor refute this possibility. The obtained protein bands show more Rhes in the cytosolic fractions, compared to membrane fractions, consistently across groups, which aligns with the predicted pattern one would see after de-prenylation. However, this pattern is problematic because it is also appeared in a control animal that received only vehicle injections. Vargiu et al. (2004) originally showed Rhes localization primarily at the plasma membrane using PC12 cells, derived from peripheral tissue. Thus, unaltered endogenous Rhes should show the same expression in control animals. Notably, the current study differs from Vargiu's, as it measures Rhes in vivo and via Western blot methods. Although differentiated PC12 cells have been commonly used to

model neurons, it is possible that endogenous Rhes in tissue displays more diffuse expression across the cell. Given the limited literature on Rhes, no other group has examined subcellular localization by Western, precluding more direct comparisons.

If the drugs failed to de-prenylate Rhes, it could be due to lack of sufficient presence in the brain. Simvastatin crosses the BBB, but zoledronate does not (Saheki, Terasaki, Tamai, & Tsuji, 1994; Sierra et al., 2011; Weiss et al., 2008). The 3-NP administration served as a theoretical means for the bisphosphonate transport to neural tissue. The neurotoxin disrupts the BBB after 3 days of i.p. injections with a dose over 5 times lower than the current dose (Duran-Vilaregut et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2003). Therefore, it is unlikely that the BBB was not disrupted in all 3-NP animals. However, to our knowledge, in vivo unassisted zoledronate transport to the brain with impaired BBB functioning has not been studied previously. Given that zoledronate is quickly taken up by bone, it is possible that no measurable amount successfully reached the brain. Conversely, the treatment timecourse may have been too short to have a measurable effect on the structure of Rhes, while still circulating in the brain. The novelty of pharmacological means to Rhes de-prenylation limits guidance in timecourse design.

Secondly, an off-target de-prenylation of a mitochondrial associated Ras family GTPase has the potential to worsen 3-NP dysfunction or nullify overcoming beneficial actions of the drugs. Mitochondrial Rho (Miro) anchors to the mitochondrial outer membrane, allowing the organelle to attach to its motor proteins, kinesin and dynein, which actively transport the structure to where it is needed within the cell, namely the axon and dendrites (Abe, Kato, Miki, Takenawa, & Endo, 2003). Miro contains N-terminal and C-terminal GTPase domains that promote membrane attachment; thus, Miro is likely prenylated. Transgenic Drosophila lacking Miro's N-terminal not only show severely fragmented mitochondria that accumulate in the cell body, but die prematurely (Babic et al., 2015). In contrast, Drosophila lacking Miro's C-terminal show less severe reduced motility only.

Neuronal mitochondrial motility is greatly suppressed without Miro, resulting in a motor neuron disease phenotype in mice that shares many behaviors with HD or 3-NP mice (Nguyen et al., 2014). Miro also acts an intermediate substrate between mitochondria and Milton, which directly recruits kinesin (Glater, Megeath, Stowers, & Schwarz, 2006). Glater et al. (2006) postulate that Milton may also have a structural attachment to the mitochondrial membrane, which would possibly make it another target of de-prenylation. Importantly, a transgenic mouse that will not express Miro in adulthood may be under development to better study this potential complex in relation to neurodegenerative diseases.

Third, pleiotropic drug effects independent of the mevalonate pathway may hinder functioning. Though treatment with mevalonate pathway disrupters obviously does not impair physiologic functioning enough to pull them from the commercial market, there is a growing awareness of the negative off-target effects. For example, statin use has been linked to the development of diabetes; meta-analyses describe a 9% increase in the risk for incidental diabetes (Sattar et al., 2010). Many clinicians and researchers have concluded that the risk is negligible in individuals without pre-existing risk factors or

overinflated statistically, but this finding should lead neuroscientists to look closer at lesser known statin actions in the brain (Blackburn, Chow, & Smith, 2015). Simvastatin reduces insulin secretion and promotes insulin resistance (Yada, Nakata, Shiraishi, & Kakei, 1999). The mechanism by which simvastatin exerts this influence is not completely clear, but a recent study claims that simvastatin affects insulin pathways independent of the mevalonate pathway interference (Kain, Kapadia, Misra, & Saxena, 2015). The brain is an insulin sensitive organ; thus, alteration of insulin activity leads to alterations in neural activity (Heni, Kullmann, Preissl, Fritsche, & Haring, 2015). The literature on insulin signaling and neurodegenerative disease is often contradictory (White, 2014). Insulin resistance in the brain may actually exacerbate degenerative conditions, like AD (Sims-Robinson, Kim, Rosko, & Feldman, 2010). Moreover, mitochondrial dysfunction is observed in mice with a brain specific insulin receptor knockout mutation (Kleinridders et al., 2015). These mice show increased levels of proapoptotic ROS and behavioral deficits, such as cognitive impairment. Therefore, statins could potentially cause further mitochondrial dysfunction, beyond 3-NP's effects, that is mediated by insulin signaling changes.

Conversely, targets of insulin, insulin receptor substrate 1 (Irs1) and substrate 2 (Irs2) have also been linked, inconsistently, to degenerative conditions (Taguchi, Wartschow, & White, 2007; Selman et al., 2008). Sadagurski et al. (2011) crossbred HD mice with transgenic mice exhibiting brain Irs2 overexpression. They found that Irs2 overexpressing HD mice performed significantly worse on motor tasks, died sooner, and displayed greater oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction. Whether

neurodegeneration is a direct result of dysregulated insulin cascades or an indirect result of peripheral effects is unclear (White, 2014). Though statins' cardiovascular actions outweigh any risk for diabetes in clinical settings, how this class of drugs affects insulin regulation demands attention in the presence of deleterious physiological effects and absence of behavioral rescue.

Other pleiotropic drug effects related to complicated Rhes interactions impart several other options for why drug treatment could fail to improve behavioral deficits in the current study. The drugs and the hypothesized target, Rhes, have multiple, sometimes paradoxical, effects on the brain's ability to clear damaged components. Simvastatin can increase apoptosis through suppression of protein kinase B (Akt) (Hwang et al., 2011) or through c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK) signaling (Gopalan, Yu, Sanders, & Kline, 2013). However, simvastatin's reactive oxygen species (ROS) scavenging activity can reduce apoptosis (Moon et al., 2011). Zoledronate can also induce apoptosis through via ROS upregulation (Ge et al., 2014). Relatedly, ROS has proven neurotoxic in another study using FTI-277 to interfere with the mevalonate pathway{Kim et al., 2010, #60084}. Apoptosis contributes to the striatally specific degeneration caused by 3-NP, so influences on the signaling pathway resulting in apoptosis can similarly influence the effects of 3-NP on physiological and motor functioning.

Furthermore, simvastatin, zoledronate, and Rhes affect autophagy. As mentioned previously, autophagy, sometimes called macroautophagy, is a complex intra-cellular degradation process that targets damaged cytosolic structures, like misfolded mHtt or dysfunctional mitochondria (Qin et al., 2003). Complete molecular mechanisms have yet to be characterized; however, it is clear that the process includes double-membrane cellular machinery, called an autophagosome, which engulfs targets and traffics the complexes away for degradation. These regularly occurring events support homeostasis until the cell incurs a level of stress that surpasses the autophagic capacity. At that time, autophagy becomes, along with apoptosis and necrosis, a form of programmed cell death (Tsujimoto & Shimizu, 2005). Cellular stress can manifest because of lack of nutrients or an increased amount of dysmorphic or dysfunctional components, such as aggregated proteins found in numerous neurodegenerative diseases (Nixon, 2013). Researchers now generally agree that the process is majoritively neuroprotective, often prolonging cell survival. Notably however, a large proportion of mammalian autophagy research has been conducted in cancer paradigms that obviously seek to suppress such pro-survival activities in cancer cells (Bhutia et al., 2013). Zoledronate (Khandelwal et al., 2014) and simvastatin can both increase autophagy (Fukui, Ferris, & Kahn, 2015). Importantly, if either proves to be a capable de-prenylation agent for Rhes, indirect anti-autophagic effects are possible. Rhes' effects on autophagy are complex. Rhes binds to and activates mTOR, an autophagy suppressor (Subramaniam et al., 2012). This activity could potentially leave cells without the required degradation tools to clear dysfunctional mitochondria, in the present model, or mHtt, in transgenic models. If Rhes downregulates autophagy, it serves as one possible mechanism through which Rhes potentiates HD pathology and why blocking Rhes expression, either through genetic manipulation (Baiamonte, Lee, Brewer, Spano, & LaHoste, 2013; Mealer, Subramaniam, & Snyder, 2013) or de-prenylation (Subramaniam, Sixt, Barrow, & Snyder, 2009) have shown

protective effects. There is, in fact, limited contrasting evidence arguing Rhes is neuroprotective. Lee et al. (2014) used RNA interference to silence Rhes in HD mice. These animals show greater striatal atrophy and persistent HD motor deficits. This study directly contrasts previous work from our lab finding a protective effect of Rhes depletion on motor behavior (Baiamonte et al., 2013). This increased cytotoxicity may be explained by pro-autophagic effects of Rhes. Rhes has been argued to increase autophagy via indirect de-phosphorylation of Akt, which leads to decreases in mTOR activity (Harrison, Muller, & Spano, 2013). The same research group that has showed toxic Rhes influences also discovered that Rhes can circumvent the mTOR pathway to autophagy by activating Beclin-1, which has pro-autophagic activity (Mealer et al., 2014). If future work proves that the presently used drug regimen does de-prenylate Rhes, then the behavioral data support a neuroprotective Rhes theory. Furthermore, since the current study uses a mitochondrial model of HD, effects of the drugs on autophagy, which degrades dysfunctional mitochondria, could potentiate or diminish the induced 3-NP damage.

Differentially inefficient autophagy across brain areas is one proposed force behind striatally specific degeneration in HD. Indeed, increasing autophagy has proven beneficial in a number of HD models, while reducing autophagic responses tends to exacerbate pathology. By inhibiting the activity of calpains, one of the negative regulators of autophagy, several markers of cellular health are affected. Autophagy promotion in Drosophila and mouse models results in reduced mHtt aggregation and soluble mHtt levels while survival is increased and behavior deficits are tempered

(Berger et al., 2006; Menzies et al., 2015). Similar effects appear when caspase activity is disrupted (Wellington et al., 2000). Caspases, like calpains, negatively regulate autophagic clearance. In the presence of mHtt, striatal neurons may have lower clearance capacity than in other parts of the brain, e .g. cortex, whether due to deficits of the UPS or autophagy (Tsvetkov et al., 2013). This is a contested idea, as another study found no significant differences between the striatum and the cortex of transgenic HD mice (Baldo, Soylu, & Petersen, 2013).

Another possible explanation for lack of behavioral amelioration by drug treatment lies in peripheral toxicity of the drugs. Indeed, there was increased mortality among treatment groups compared to the 3-NP alone group. Zoledronate, and bisphosphonates in general, have long been associated with increased chances for renal failure, especially in those with already lowered kidney function (Bounameaux, Schifferli, Montani, Jung, & Chatelanat, 1983). Even in rats with normal kidney functioning, zoledronate can lead to renal failure, though using a higher dose (Bergner, Siegrist, Gretz, Pohlmeyer-Esch, & Kranzlin, 2015). Simvastatin has been implicated in sporadic hepatic failure of clinical patients (Bjornsson, 2014). Animal research also finds simvastatin to be especially toxic, compared to other statins, to liver cells. Higher levels of ROS and increased cytotoxicity were observed after simvastatin exposure in liver cells in vitro (Abdoli, Azarmi, & Eghbal, 2015). Statin use is also associated with muscle toxicity in patients. Statin-induce myopathy is possibly caused by multiple subcellular actions of statins, such as reducing cholesterol through HMG-CoA reductase inhibition, but also by direct effects on the mitochondrial respiration (Apostolopoulou, Corsini, & Roden, 2015).

Although peripheral toxicity could have affected behavior, unequal mortality rates across 3-NP groups point toward a third explanation for lack of behavioral rescue, a contributory negative effect of the drugs, which may or may not be independent of de-prenylation. Pilot data gathered on toxicity speak to an adverse interaction of mevalonate pathway inhibitors and 3-NP. The incidence of mortality in the zoledronate treated 3-NP group was higher than observed in zoledronate pilot mice that received no 3-NP. Furthermore, mortality was increased in the simvastatin and combination treatment groups, as well. Because simvastatin has such an established literature indicating it is largely well tolerated, a dose pilot with no additional 3-NP was forgone to reduce the number of animals used. However, the current mortality pattern for simvastatin groups does concur with findings from a previous study that paired the same dose of simvastatin with an escalating dose of 3-NP. In the first study, simvastatin, and zoledronate groups had higher mortality than 3-NP alone. The breadth of pleiotropic effects for simvastatin and zoledronate treatment certainly present numerous options for increased cellular dysfunction. Since the current drug groups did not perform significantly worse than the 3-NP group on the rotarod task, rather than adding dysfunction, treatments could have simply not been able to overcome the extent to which 3-NP caused cellular and neural damage.

Clasping behavior was not affected by drug treatment either. However, there were very few incidences of any clasping behavior observed across 3-NP groups. This is in contrast to transgenic mouse models, in which the majority of mice exhibiting any motor

disturbances also display clasping behavior. The lack of clasping is also in contrast to evidence that the 3-NP HD model is associated with clasping (Fernagut et al., 2002). Previous work was conducted in C57 mice, however, and with a higher cumulative dose. Notably, our pilot studies with CD-1 mice showed similarly absent clasping. It is possible that 3-NP may not cause clasping behavior in the CD-1 murine strain. A very limited number of studies have been published using 3-NP in CD1 mice and these studies did not assess clasping behavior (Kim & Chan, 2001; Kim et al., 2003). There is ample documentation of strain differences in susceptibility to 3-NP toxicity across species (Alexi, Hughes, Knusel, & Tobin, 1998) and across strains of the same species (Gabrielson et al., 2001), thus the extent to which 3-NP would cause clasping in a particular strain likely also displays strain differences. Our data informs future work using CD-1 mice with a 3-NP model of HD.

Limitations

There are prominent flaws in the current research that stem from the lack of specificity in the pharmacological interventions. While Rhes inactivation remains a promising target for HD therapies, the methods utilized leave room for improvement. First, pharmacological de-prenylation techniques do not offer any selectivity to Rhes. Rather, all proteins in the body which contain isoprenoids may be diminished. Currently, at least 100 different proteins in a typical mammalian cell contain either a farnesyl or geranyl component, including many GTPases (Hrycyna, Bergo, & Tamanoi, 2011). The possible consequences of global de-prenylation are far-reaching. In other words,

regardless of the efficacy of the current de-prenylation efforts, simvastatin and zoledronate are not, in their nature, specific means to manipulate Rhes activity.

Secondly, as explored above, simvastatin and zoledronate have documented pleiotropic effects beyond their immediate actions of HMG-CoA reductase and FPPS, respectively. Mevalonate intervening drugs not only de-prenylate but prevent the formation of downstream products. Zoledronate's effects on expression downstream of the MVA pathway are still largely unknown. One recent study employed microarray techniques to find that zoledronate treatment influenced, either up- or down-regulating, genes involved in metabolic, cell localization, cell communication, and cell proliferation pathways, respectively (Insalaco et al., 2012). Changes are thought to be representative of early responses because only a 24-hour treatment was used, so longer time courses likely affect change in a different inventory of genes.

As an example, both simvastatin (Bargossi et al., 1994) and zoledronate (Kalyan et al., 2014) inhibit the synthesis of the downstream products. One such product, coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10), is likely a neuroprotective agent and known antioxidant. CoQ10 administration in both transgenic and 3-NP HD models has shown robust benefits from several groups (Naia, 2011). Early HD clinical studies showed promise, but continued investigation does not produce such clear positive effects (Shannon and Fraint, 2015). Perhaps CoQ10 alone cannot produce significant and consistent effects in HD, but supplementation with another pharmacological agent could. Future work targeting the mevalonate pathway must consider this option.

Only recently, interactions between HD related proteins and autophagic factors have been characterized. Wong and Holzbaur (2014) used live cell imaging to follow the autophagosome from its creation at the axonal tip, through the engulfment of its target, and as it moves backwards toward the cell body. They demonstrated that Htt promotes the proper motility of the autophagosome, and without it or in the presence of mHtt, the cell sustains an accumulation of autophagosomes with dysfunctional cargo. In other words, healthy cells' autophagosomes need Htt to properly degrade the components engulfed within. In HD models, there is both a lack of Htt and presence of mHtt, marking autophagy as an exemplary example of dual loss-of-function and gain-of-function and worthy of continued exploration.

Future Considerations

Future studies positioned on the proposed neuroprotective mechanisms of simvastatin and zoledronate in a 3-NP model need to better describe interactive in vivo effects. By staining brain slices with cresyl violet or nissl stain, lesion size in the striatum can be quantified and compared across groups, then used to examine relationship between degeneration and mortality, behavior, etc. Furthermore, in the hypothetical presence of de-prenylation and absence of behavioral amelioration, concurrent supplementation with protective substances, e.g. CoQ10 should be explored.

Currently, how the balance sways between Rhes' pro- and anti-autophagic influences is unknown. Determining what factors push Rhes toward activation of autophagy regulators is a crucial next step to illuminating why Rhes may have neurotoxic and protective effects in HD. Perhaps incorporation of techniques like live cell imaging can help create a timeline of when Rhes binds to regulators, thus, informing cumulative effects on autophagy. Furthermore, this timeline can be compared between cells with and without mHtt, as its known mHtt influences Rhes binding to at least one regulator.

Future work on Rhes manipulation should aim to utilize the most specific methodology possible for the hypotheses. Pharmacological de-prenylation of Rhes is not the only option for dislocating the possible HD co-factor from the plasma membrane where it binds to a myriad of structures. Using a construct developed in the Snyder lab of Johns Hopkins University, it is possible to create a transgenic mouse model that will have a specific mutation on the Rhes genetic domain, which encodes for farnesylation (Subramaniam et al., 2009). Thus Rhes, and only Rhes, will be detached from membranes and lose signaling effects. This mouse can then be crossbred with HD and wild type mice to look at in vivo effects, which can be directly compared to existing literature (Baiamonte et al., 2013). Furthermore, examining expression of proteins marking apoptotic and autophagic processes, as well as other proposed HD related mechanisms, such as mitochondrial dysfunction, will greatly enhance understanding of how Rhes functions normally and in the presence of mHtt.

Concluding Remarks

The current study shows a lack of behavioral rescue by simvastatin and zoledronate in a 3-NP mouse model of HD. These findings contrast similar, but not exact,

studies finding benefits to treatment with statins and/or bisphosphonates in 3-NP (Ahmed, Darwish, Abdelsalam, & Amin, 2015; Lee et al., 2008). Due to higher mortality in experimental groups receiving one or both of the drugs with 3-NP, an additive toxic effect is suggested. It is unclear whether drug treatment affected Rhes prenylation. If the lack of behavioral improvement is indicative of underlying de-prenylation, peripheral toxicity or pleiotropic influences could be determining factors. Additionally, such findings may support a neuroprotective view of Rhes. If Rhes was not significantly de-prenylated, a neurotoxic view of Rhes remains a predominant theory. This data raises questions about the interplay of the mevalonate pathway, two widely prescribed drugs and Rhes on degradation processes in the brain. Such processes are necessary for cell viability in HD and in the current 3-NP model and should be a focus of future work. Lastly, this project informs future work using 3-NP in CD-1 mice and adds to the simvastatin and zoledronate literature.

At present, Tetrabenazine is the only approved treatment for HD, but serious adverse events limit its benefits. Because this drug causes dopamine depletion, among other central monoamines, possible consequences include the development or worsening of depression and parkinsonism, both of which may co-occur in HD (2006; Frank, 2009). Therefore, HD researchers and advocates should not feel content with the still extremely limited options for those suffering from HD. Animal research is a necessary tool with which to study HD processes, which are overwhelmingly complex. The overwhelming number of mechanisms that have yet to be fully illustrated necessitates fervent pursuit of therapeutic targets like Rhes.

References

- Abdoli, N., Azarmi, Y., & Eghbal, M. A. (2015). Mitigation of statins-induced cytotoxicity and mitochondrial dysfunction by L-carnitine in freshly-isolated rat hepatocytes. *Res Pharm Sci*, *10*(2), 143-151. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=26487891
- Abe, T., Kato, M., Miki, H., Takenawa, T., & Endo, T. (2003). Small GTPase Tc10 and its homologue RhoT induce N-WASP-mediated long process formation and neurite outgrowth. *J Cell Sci*, *116*(Pt 1), 155-168. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12456725
- Ahmed, L. A., Darwish, H. A., Abdelsalam, R. M., & Amin, H. A. (2015). Role of Rho Kinase Inhibition in the Protective Effect of Fasudil and Simvastatin Against 3-Nitropropionic Acid-Induced Striatal Neurodegeneration and Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Rats. *Mol Neurobiol*. doi:10.1007/s12035-015-9303-2
- Albin, R. L., Reiner, A., Anderson, K. D., Dure, L. S., Handelin, B., Balfour, R., . . . Young, A. B. (1992). Preferential loss of striato-external pallidal projection neurons in presymptomatic Huntington's disease. *Ann Neurol*, 31(4), 425-430. doi:10.1002/ana.410310412
- Alexander, G. E., DeLong, M. R., & Strick, P. L. (1986). Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 9, 357-381. doi:10.1146/annurev.ne.09.030186.002041
- Alexi, T., Hughes, P. E., Knusel, B., & Tobin, A. J. (1998). Metabolic compromise with systemic 3-nitropropionic acid produces striatal apoptosis in Sprague-Dawley rats but not in BALB/c ByJ mice. *Exp Neurol*, 153(1), 74-93. doi:10.1006/exnr.1998.6842
- Alston, T. A., Mela, L., & Bright, H. J. (1977). 3-Nitropropionate, the toxic substance of Indigofera, is a suicide inactivator of succinate dehydrogenase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A, 74(9), 3767-3771. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=269430
- Andrade, M. A., Petosa, C., O'Donoghue, S. I., Muller, C. W., & Bork, P. (2001). Comparison of ARM and HEAT protein repeats. *J Mol Biol*, 309(1), 1-18. doi:10.1006/jmbi.2001.4624
- Andrew, S. E., Goldberg, Y. P., Kremer, B., Telenius, H., Theilmann, J., Adam, S., . . . et, a. (1993). The relationship between trinucleotide (CAG) repeat length and clinical features of Huntington's disease. *Nat Genet*, 4(4), 398-403. doi:10.1038/ng0893-398
- Apostolopoulou, M., Corsini, A., & Roden, M. (2015). The role of mitochondria in statininduced myopathy. *Eur J Clin Invest*, 45(7), 745-754. doi:10.1111/eci.12461
- Aprahamian, T., Bonegio, R., Rizzo, J., Perlman, H., Lefer, D. J., Rifkin, I. R., & Walsh, K. (2006). Simvastatin treatment ameliorates autoimmune disease associated with accelerated atherosclerosis in a murine lupus model. *J Immunol*, 177(5), 3028-3034. Retrieved from

- Arrasate, M., Mitra, S., Schweitzer, E. S., Segal, M. R., & Finkbeiner, S. (2004). Inclusion body formation reduces levels of mutant huntingtin and the risk of neuronal death. *Nature*, 431(7010), 805-810. doi:10.1038/nature02998
- Aylward, E. H. (2007). Change in MRI striatal volumes as a biomarker in preclinical Huntington's disease. *Brain Res Bull*, 72(2-3), 152-158. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2006.10.028
- Aylward, E. H., Nopoulos, P. C., Ross, C. A., Langbehn, D. R., Pierson, R. K., Mills, J. A., . . . Paulsen, J. S. (2011). Longitudinal change in regional brain volumes in prodromal Huntington disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 82(4), 405-410. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2010.208264
- Aylward, E. H., Sparks, B. F., Field, K. M., Yallapragada, V., Shpritz, B. D., Rosenblatt, A., . . . Ross, C. A. (2004). Onset and rate of striatal atrophy in preclinical Huntington disease. *Neurology*, 63(1), 66-72. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=15249612
- Ayral-Kaloustian, S., & Salaski, E. J. (2002). Protein farnesyltransferase inhibitors. *Curr Med Chem*, 9(10), 1003-1032. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12733981
- Babic, M., Russo, G. J., Wellington, A. J., Sangston, R. M., Gonzalez, M., & Zinsmaier, K. E. (2015). Miro's N-terminal GTPase domain is required for transport of mitochondria into axons and dendrites. *J Neurosci*, 35(14), 5754-5771. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1035-14.2015
- Backlund, P. S. J., Simonds, W. F., & Spiegel, A. M. (1990). Carboxyl methylation and COOH-terminal processing of the brain G-protein gamma-subunit. *J Biol Chem*, 265(26), 15572-15576. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=2118528
- Baiamonte, B. A. (2012). The effects of Rhes, a striatal specific protein, on the expression of behavioral and neuropathological symptoms in a transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. Ph. D. University of New Orleans, New Orleans, LA.
- Baldo, B., Soylu, R., & Petersen, A. (2013). Maintenance of basal levels of autophagy in Huntington's disease mouse models displaying metabolic dysfunction. *PLoS One*, 8(12), e83050. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0083050
- Bargossi, A. M., Grossi, G., Fiorella, P. L., Gaddi, A., Di Giulio, R., & Battino, M. (1994). Exogenous CoQ10 supplementation prevents plasma ubiquinone reduction induced by HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors. *Mol Aspects Med*, *15 Suppl*, s187-s193. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=7752830

Beal, M. F., Brouillet, E., Jenkins, B. G., Ferrante, R. J., Kowall, N. W., Miller, J. M., . . . Hyman, B. T. (1993). Neurochemical and histologic characterization of striatal excitotoxic lesions produced by the mitochondrial toxin 3-nitropropionic acid. *J Neurosci*, 13(10), 4181-4192. Retrieved from

- Berger, Z., Ravikumar, B., Menzies, F. M., Oroz, L. G., Underwood, B. R., Pangalos, M. N., . . . Rubinsztein, D. C. (2006). Rapamycin alleviates toxicity of different aggregate-prone proteins. *Hum Mol Genet*, 15(3), 433-442. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddi458
- Bergner, R., Siegrist, B., Gretz, N., Pohlmeyer-Esch, G., & Kranzlin, B. (2015). Nephrotoxicity of ibandronate and zoledronate in Wistar rats with normal renal function and after unilateral nephrectomy. *Pharmacol Res*, 99, 16-22. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2015.04.016
- Bhutia, S. K., Mukhopadhyay, S., Sinha, N., Das, D. N., Panda, P. K., Patra, S.
 K., . . . Fisher, P. B. (2013). Autophagy: cancer's friend or foe? *Adv Cancer Res*, *118*, 61-95. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-407173-5.00003-0
- Bjornsson, E. S. (2014). Epidemiology and risk factors for idiosyncratic drug-induced liver injury. *Semin Liver Dis*, *34*(2), 115-122. doi:10.1055/s-0034-1375953
- Blackburn, D. F., Chow, J. Y., & Smith, A. D. (2015). Statin Use and Incident Diabetes Explained by Bias Rather Than Biology. *Can J Cardiol*, 31(8), 966-969. doi:10.1016/j.cjca.2015.03.025
- Blondel, S., Jaskowiak, A. L., Egesipe, A. L., Le Corf, A., Navarro, C., Cordette, V., . . . Nissan, X. (2014). Induced pluripotent stem cells reveal functional differences between drugs currently investigated in patients with hutchinson-gilford progeria syndrome. *Stem Cells Transl Med*, 3(4), 510-519. doi:10.5966/sctm.2013-0168
- Blum, D., Galas, M. C., Pintor, A., Brouillet, E., Ledent, C., Muller, C.
 E., . . . Schiffmann, S. N. (2003). A dual role of adenosine A2A receptors in 3nitropropionic acid-induced striatal lesions: implications for the neuroprotective potential of A2A antagonists. *J Neurosci*, 23(12), 5361-5369. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12832562
- Blum, D., Gall, D., Cuvelier, L., & Schiffmann, S. N. (2001). Topological analysis of striatal lesions induced by 3-nitropropionic acid in the Lewis rat. *Neuroreport*, 12(8), 1769-1772. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=
- Citation&list_uids=11409756 Bohanna, I., Georgiou-Karistianis, N., & Egan, G. F. (2011). Connectivity-based segmentation of the striatum in Huntington's disease: vulnerability of motor pathways. *Neurobiol Dis*, 42(3), 475-481. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2011.02.010
- Bounameaux, H. M., Schifferli, J., Montani, J. P., Jung, A., & Chatelanat, F. (1983). Renal failure associated with intravenous diphosphonates. *Lancet*, 1(8322), 471. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dop

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=6131186

Burns, M. P., Igbavboa, U., Wang, L., Wood, W. G., & Duff, K. (2006). Cholesterol distribution, not total levels, correlate with altered amyloid precursor protein processing in statin-treated mice. *Neuromolecular Med*, 8(3), 319-328. Retrieved from

- Carmichael, J., Chatellier, J., Woolfson, A., Milstein, C., Fersht, A. R., & Rubinsztein, D. C. (2000). Bacterial and yeast chaperones reduce both aggregate formation and cell death in mammalian cell models of Huntington's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97(17), 9701-9705. doi:10.1073/pnas.170280697
- Cattaneo, E., Zuccato, C., & Tartari, M. (2005). Normal huntingtin function: an alternative approach to Huntington's disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, *6*(12), 919-930. doi:10.1038/nrn1806
- Caviston, J. P., & Holzbaur, E. L. (2009). Huntingtin as an essential integrator of intracellular vesicular trafficking. *Trends Cell Biol*, *19*(4), 147-155. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2009.01.005
- Cha, J. H. (2007). Transcriptional signatures in Huntington's disease. *Prog Neurobiol*, 83(4), 228-248. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2007.03.004
- Cooper, J. K., Schilling, G., Peters, M. F., Herring, W. J., Sharp, A. H., Kaminsky, Z., . . . Ross, C. A. (1998). Truncated N-terminal fragments of huntingtin with expanded glutamine repeats form nuclear and cytoplasmic aggregates in cell culture. *Hum Mol Genet*, 7(5), 783-790. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=9536081
- Craufurd, D., Thompson, J. C., & Snowden, J. S. (2001). Behavioral changes in Huntington Disease. *Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol*, 14(4), 219-226. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=11725215

- Cudkowicz, M., & Kowall, N. W. (1990). Degeneration of pyramidal projection neurons in Huntington's disease cortex. *Ann Neurol*, 27(2), 200-204. doi:10.1002/ana.410270217
- Davies, S. W., Turmaine, M., Cozens, B. A., DiFiglia, M., Sharp, A. H., Ross, C.
 A., . . . Bates, G. P. (1997). Formation of neuronal intranuclear inclusions underlies the neurological dysfunction in mice transgenic for the HD mutation. *Cell*, 90(3), 537-548. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=9267033

- de Boo, G., Tibben, A., Hermans, J., Maat, A., & Roos, R. A. (1998). Subtle involuntary movements are not reliable indicators of incipient Huntington's disease. *Mov Disord*, *13*(1), 96-99. doi:10.1002/mds.870130120
- de Boo, G. M., Tibben, A., Lanser, J. B., Jennekens-Schinkel, A., Hermans, J., Maat-Kievit, A., & Roos, R. A. (1997). Early cognitive and motor symptoms in identified carriers of the gene for Huntington disease. *Arch Neurol*, 54(11), 1353-1357. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=9362982

de Mezer, M., Wojciechowska, M., Napierala, M., Sobczak, K., & Krzyzosiak, W. J. (2011). Mutant CAG repeats of Huntingtin transcript fold into hairpins, form nuclear foci and are targets for RNA interference. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 39(9), 3852-3863. doi:10.1093/nar/gkq1323

- del Toro, D., Xifro, X., Pol, A., Humbert, S., Saudou, F., Canals, J. M., & Alberch, J. (2010). Altered cholesterol homeostasis contributes to enhanced excitotoxicity in Huntington's disease. *J Neurochem*, 115(1), 153-167. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06912.x
- Delmaire, C., Dumas, E. M., Sharman, M. A., van den Bogaard, S. J., Valabregue, R., Jauffret, C., . . . Lehericy, S. (2013). The structural correlates of functional deficits in early huntington's disease. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 34(9), 2141-2153. doi:10.1002/hbm.22055
- DiFiglia, M., Sapp, E., Chase, K., Schwarz, C., Meloni, A., Young, C., . . . et, a. (1995). Huntingtin is a cytoplasmic protein associated with vesicles in human and rat brain neurons. *Neuron*, 14(5), 1075-1081. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=7748555
- DiFiglia, M., Sapp, E., Chase, K. O., Davies, S. W., Bates, G. P., Vonsattel, J. P., & Aronin, N. (1997). Aggregation of huntingtin in neuronal intranuclear inclusions and dystrophic neurites in brain. *Science*, 277(5334), 1990-1993. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=9302293
- Douaud, G., Behrens, T. E., Poupon, C., Cointepas, Y., Jbabdi, S., Gaura, V., ... Remy, P. (2009). In vivo evidence for the selective subcortical degeneration in Huntington's disease. *Neuroimage*, 46(4), 958-966. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.03.044
- Draganski, B., Kherif, F., Kloppel, S., Cook, P. A., Alexander, D. C., Parker, G. J., . . . Frackowiak, R. S. (2008). Evidence for segregated and integrative connectivity patterns in the human Basal Ganglia. *J Neurosci*, 28(28), 7143-7152. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1486-08.2008
- Dragatsis, I., Efstratiadis, A., & Zeitlin, S. (1998). Mouse mutant embryos lacking huntingtin are rescued from lethality by wild-type extraembryonic tissues. *Development*, 125(8), 1529-1539. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=9502734
- Drake, M. T., & Cremers, S. C. (2010). Bisphosphonate therapeutics in bone disease: the hard and soft data on osteoclast inhibition. *Mol Interv*, *10*(3), 141-152. doi:10.1124/mi.10.3.5
- Dumas, E. M., van den Bogaard, S. J., Ruber, M. E., Reilman, R. R., Stout, J. C., Craufurd, D., . . . Roos, R. A. (2012). Early changes in white matter pathways of the sensorimotor cortex in premanifest Huntington's disease. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 33(1), 203-212. doi:10.1002/hbm.21205
- Duran-Vilaregut, J., del Valle, J., Camins, A., Pallas, M., Pelegri, C., & Vilaplana, J. (2009). Blood-brain barrier disruption in the striatum of rats treated with 3nitropropionic acid. *Neurotoxicology*, 30(1), 136-143. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2008.10.007
- Eckert, G. P., Hooff, G. P., Strandjord, D. M., Igbavboa, U., Volmer, D. A., Muller, W. E., & Wood, W. G. (2009). Regulation of the brain isoprenoids farnesyl- and geranylgeranylpyrophosphate is altered in male Alzheimer patients. *Neurobiol Dis*, 35(2), 251-257. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2009.05.005

- Falk, J. D., Vargiu, P., Foye, P. E., Usui, H., Perez, J., Danielson, P. E., ... Sutcliffe, J. G. (1999). Rhes: A striatal-specific Ras homolog related to Dexras1. *J Neurosci Res*, 57(6), 782-788. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=10467249
- Fassbender, K., Simons, M., Bergmann, C., Stroick, M., Lutjohann, D., Keller,
 P., . . . Hartmann, T. (2001). Simvastatin strongly reduces levels of Alzheimer's disease beta -amyloid peptides Abeta 42 and Abeta 40 in vitro and in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *98*(10), 5856-5861. doi:10.1073/pnas.081620098
- Fernagut, P. O., Diguet, E., Stefanova, N., Biran, M., Wenning, G. K., Canioni, P., . . . Tison, F. (2002). Subacute systemic 3-nitropropionic acid intoxication induces a distinct motor disorder in adult C57Bl/6 mice: behavioural and histopathological characterisation. *Neuroscience*, 114(4), 1005-1017. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12379255

Fink, A. L. (1999). Chaperone-mediated protein folding. *Physiol Rev*, 79(2), 425-449. Retrieved from

- Frank, S. (2009). Tetrabenazine as anti-chorea therapy in Huntington disease: an openlabel continuation study. Huntington Study Group/TETRA-HD Investigators. BMC Neurol, 9, 62. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-9-62
- Fritz, G. (2009). Targeting the mevalonate pathway for improved anticancer therapy. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*, 9(5), 626-638. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=19508172
- Fukui, K., Ferris, H. A., & Kahn, C. R. (2015). Effect of Cholesterol Reduction on Receptor Signaling in Neurons. J Biol Chem. doi:10.1074/jbc.M115.664367
- Gabrielson, K. L., Hogue, B. A., Bohr, V. A., Cardounel, A. J., Nakajima, W., Kofler, J., . . Bressler, J. (2001). Mitochondrial toxin 3-nitropropionic acid induces cardiac and neurotoxicity differentially in mice. *Am J Pathol*, 159(4), 1507-1520. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62536-9
- Gafni, J., & Ellerby, L. M. (2002). Calpain activation in Huntington's disease. *J Neurosci*, 22(12), 4842-4849. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12077181
- Gao, J., Liao, J., & Yang, G. Y. (2009). CAAX-box protein, prenylation process and carcinogenesis. *Am J Transl Res*, 1(3), 312-325. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=19956441
- Ge, X. Y., Yang, L. Q., Jiang, Y., Yang, W. W., Fu, J., & Li, S. L. (2014). Reactive oxygen species and autophagy associated apoptosis and limitation of clonogenic survival induced by zoledronic acid in salivary adenoid cystic carcinoma cell line SACC-83. *PLoS One*, 9(6), e101207. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0101207
- Georgiou-Karistianis, N., Gray, M. A., Dominguez, D. J. F., Dymowski, A. R., Bohanna,

I., Johnston, L. A., . . . Egan, G. F. (2013). Automated differentiation of prediagnosis Huntington's disease from healthy control individuals based on quadratic discriminant analysis of the basal ganglia: the IMAGE-HD study. *Neurobiol Dis*, *51*, 82-92. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2012.10.001

- Gil, J. M., & Rego, A. C. (2008). Mechanisms of neurodegeneration in Huntington's disease. *Eur J Neurosci*, 27(11), 2803-2820. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06310.x
- Glater, E. E., Megeath, L. J., Stowers, R. S., & Schwarz, T. L. (2006). Axonal transport of mitochondria requires milton to recruit kinesin heavy chain and is light chain independent. J Cell Biol, 173(4), 545-557. doi:10.1083/jcb.200601067
- Goffinet, M., Thoulouzan, M., Pradines, A., Lajoie-Mazenc, I., Weinbaum, C., Faye, J. C., & Seronie-Vivien, S. (2006). Zoledronic acid treatment impairs protein geranylgeranylation for biological effects in prostatic cells. *BMC Cancer*, 6, 60. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-6-60
- Goldberg, Y. P., Nicholson, D. W., Rasper, D. M., Kalchman, M. A., Koide, H. B., Graham, R. K., . . . Hayden, M. R. (1996). Cleavage of huntingtin by apopain, a proapoptotic cysteine protease, is modulated by the polyglutamine tract. *Nat Genet*, 13(4), 442-449. doi:10.1038/ng0896-442
- Goldstein, J. L., & Brown, M. S. (1990). Regulation of the mevalonate pathway. *Nature*, 343(6257), 425-430. doi:10.1038/343425a0
- Gordon, A. M., Quinn, L., Reilmann, R., & Marder, K. (2000). Coordination of prehensile forces during precision grip in Huntington's disease. *Exp Neurol*, 163(1), 136-148. doi:10.1006/exnr.2000.7348
- Gopalan, A., Yu, W., Sanders, B. G., & Kline, K. (2013). Simvastatin inhibition of mevalonate pathway induces apoptosis in human breast cancer cells via activation of JNK/CHOP/DR5 signaling pathway. *Cancer Lett*, 329(1), 9-16. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2012.08.031
- Graham, R. K., Deng, Y., Slow, E. J., Haigh, B., Bissada, N., Lu, G., . . . Hayden, M. R. (2006). Cleavage at the caspase-6 site is required for neuronal dysfunction and degeneration due to mutant huntingtin. *Cell*, 125(6), 1179-1191. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.04.026
- Graveland, G. A., Williams, R. S., & DiFiglia, M. (1985). Evidence for degenerative and regenerative changes in neostriatal spiny neurons in Huntington's disease. *Science*, 227(4688), 770-773. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=3155875
- Gutekunst, C. A., Li, S. H., Yi, H., Mulroy, J. S., Kuemmerle, S., Jones, R., . . . Li, X. J. (1999). Nuclear and neuropil aggregates in Huntington's disease: relationship to neuropathology. *J Neurosci*, 19(7), 2522-2534. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=10087066
- Hamilton, J. M., Salmon, D. P., Corey-Bloom, J., Gamst, A., Paulsen, J. S., Jerkins, S., . . . Peavy, G. (2003). Behavioural abnormalities contribute to functional decline in Huntington's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 74(1), 120-122. Retrieved from
 - http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=12486282

Hancock, J. F., Magee, A. I., Childs, J. E., & Marshall, C. J. (1989). All ras proteins are polyisoprenylated but only some are palmitoylated. *Cell*, 57(7), 1167-1177. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=2661017

- Harjes, P., & Wanker, E. E. (2003). The hunt for huntingtin function: interaction partners tell many different stories. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 28(8), 425-433. doi:10.1016/S0968-0004(03)00168-3
- Harper, P. S. (1992). The epidemiology of Huntington's disease. *Hum Genet*, 89(4), 365-376. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=1535611
- Harrington, D. L., Smith, M. M., Zhang, Y., Carlozzi, N. E., & Paulsen, J. S. (2012). Cognitive domains that predict time to diagnosis in prodromal Huntington disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 83(6), 612-619. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2011-301732
- Harrison, L. M. (2012). Rhes: a GTP-binding protein integral to striatal physiology and pathology. *Cell Mol Neurobiol*, *32*(6), 907-918. doi:10.1007/s10571-012-9830-6
- Harrison, L. M., & LaHoste, G. J. (2006). Rhes, the Ras homolog enriched in striatum, is reduced under conditions of dopamine supersensitivity. *Neuroscience*, 137(2), 483-492. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.08.017
- Harrison, L. M., Muller, S. H., & Spano, D. (2013). Effects of the Ras homolog Rhes on Akt/protein kinase B and glycogen synthase kinase 3 phosphorylation in striatum. *Neuroscience*, 236, 21-30. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.12.062
- Hartl, F. U., & Hayer-Hartl, M. (2002). Molecular chaperones in the cytosol: from nascent chain to folded protein. *Science*, 295(5561), 1852-1858. doi:10.1126/science.1068408
- Hay, D. G., Sathasivam, K., Tobaben, S., Stahl, B., Marber, M., Mestril, R., ... Bates, G. P. (2004). Progressive decrease in chaperone protein levels in a mouse model of Huntington's disease and induction of stress proteins as a therapeutic approach. *Hum Mol Genet*, *13*(13), 1389-1405. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddh144

Hedreen, J. C., Peyser, C. E., Folstein, S. E., & Ross, C. A. (1991). Neuronal loss in layers V and VI of cerebral cortex in Huntington's disease. *Neurosci Lett*, 133(2), 257-261. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=1840078

- Heni, M., Kullmann, S., Preissl, H., Fritsche, A., & Haring, H. U. (2015). Impaired insulin action in the human brain: causes and metabolic consequences. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* doi:10.1038/nrendo.2015.173
- Henshall, T. L., Tucker, B., Lumsden, A. L., Nornes, S., Lardelli, M. T., & Richards, R.
 I. (2009). Selective neuronal requirement for huntingtin in the developing zebrafish. *Hum Mol Genet*, 18(24), 4830-4842. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddp455
- Hilditch-Maguire, P., Trettel, F., Passani, L. A., Auerbach, A., Persichetti, F., & MacDonald, M. E. (2000). Huntingtin: an iron-regulated protein essential for normal nuclear and perinuclear organelles. *Hum Mol Genet*, 9(19), 2789-2797. Retrieved from

- Hobbs, N. Z., Henley, S. M., Ridgway, G. R., Wild, E. J., Barker, R. A., Scahill, R.
 I., . . . Tabrizi, S. J. (2010). The progression of regional atrophy in premanifest and early Huntington's disease: a longitudinal voxel-based morphometry study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 81(7), 756-763. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2009.190702
- Hoglund, K., & Blennow, K. (2007). Effect of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors on betaamyloid peptide levels: implications for Alzheimer's disease. CNS Drugs, 21(6), 449-462. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=17521225
- Hrycyna, C., Bergo, M., & Tamanoi, F. (2011). Protein Prenylation, Part B, Volume 30 (The Enzymes) (1 ed.). Academic Press. Retrieved from http://www.amazon.com/Protein-Prenylation-Part-Volume-Enzymes/dp/0124159222%3FSubscriptionId%3D0NM5T5X751JWT17C4GG2%2 6tag%3Dsonnysoftware%26linkCode%3Dxm2%26camp%3D2025%26creative%3 D165953%26creativeASIN%3D0124159222
- Huntington, G. (1895). Huntington's chorea. Brooklyn Med J, 9, 173-174.
- Hwang, K. E., Na, K. S., Park, D. S., Choi, K. H., Kim, B. R., Shim, H., . . . Kim, H. R. (2011). Apoptotic induction by simvastatin in human lung cancer A549 cells via Akt signaling dependent down-regulation of survivin. *Invest New Drugs*, 29(5), 945-952. doi:10.1007/s10637-010-9450-2
- Insalaco, L., Di Gaudio, F., Terrasi, M., Amodeo, V., Caruso, S., Corsini, L. R., . . . Russo, A. (2012). Analysis of molecular mechanisms and anti-tumoural effects of zoledronic acid in breast cancer cells. *J Cell Mol Med*, *16*(9), 2186-2195. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2012.01527.x
- Issat, T., Nowis, D., Legat, M., Makowski, M., Klejman, M. P., Urbanski, J., . . . Golab, J. (2007). Potentiated antitumor effects of the combination treatment with statins and pamidronate in vitro and in vivo. *Int J Oncol*, *30*(6), 1413-1425. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=17487362

Jackson, M., Gentleman, S., Lennox, G., Ward, L., Gray, T., Randall, K., . . . Lowe, J. (1995). The cortical neuritic pathology of Huntington's disease. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*, 21(1), 18-26. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=7770116

- Jasinska, M., Owczarek, J., & Orszulak-Michalak, D. (2007). Statins: a new insight into their mechanisms of action and consequent pleiotropic effects. *Pharmacol Rep*, 59(5), 483-499. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=18048949
- Jia, K., Hart, A. C., & Levine, B. (2007). Autophagy genes protect against disease caused by polyglutamine expansion proteins in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Autophagy*, 3(1), 21-25. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=17172799
- Jick, H., Zornberg, G. L., Jick, S. S., Seshadri, S., & Drachman, D. A. (2000). Statins and

the risk of dementia. *Lancet*, 356(9242), 1627-1631. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=11089820

- Julien, C. L., Thompson, J. C., Wild, S., Yardumian, P., Snowden, J. S., Turner, G., & Craufurd, D. (2007). Psychiatric disorders in preclinical Huntington's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 78(9), 939-943. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2006.103309
- Kain, V., Kapadia, B., Misra, P., & Saxena, U. (2015). Simvastatin may induce insulin resistance through a novel fatty acid mediated cholesterol independent mechanism. *Sci Rep*, 5, 13823. doi:10.1038/srep13823
- Kalyan, S., Huebbe, P., Esatbeyoglu, T., Niklowitz, P., Cote, H. C., Rimbach, G., & Kabelitz, D. (2014). Nitrogen-bisphosphonate therapy is linked to compromised coenzyme Q10 and vitamin E status in postmenopausal women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 99(4), 1307-1313. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-3648
- Kandel, E. R., Schwartz, J. H., & Jessell, T. M. (2000). Principles of neural science (4). McGraw-Hill New York. Retrieved from http://www.just.edu.jo/FacultiesandDepartments/FacultyofEngineering/Department s/BiomedicalEngineering/Documents/Neuroscience Syllabus.pdf
- Kauffman, J. S., Zinovyeva, A., Yagi, K., Makabe, K. W., & Raff, R. A. (2003). Neural expression of the Huntington's disease gene as a chordate evolutionary novelty. J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol, 297(1), 57-64. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12955844
- Kegel, K. B., Meloni, A. R., Yi, Y., Kim, Y. J., Doyle, E., Cuiffo, B. G., ... DiFiglia, M. (2002). Huntingtin is present in the nucleus, interacts with the transcriptional corepressor C-terminal binding protein, and represses transcription. *J Biol Chem*, 277(9), 7466-7476. doi:10.1074/jbc.M103946200
- Khandelwal, V. K., Mitrofan, L. M., Hyttinen, J. M., Chaudhari, K. R., Buccione, R.,
 Kaarniranta, K., . . . Monkkonen, J. (2014). Oxidative stress plays an important role in zoledronic acid-induced autophagy. *Physiol Res*, 63 Suppl 4, S601-S612.
 Retrieved from

- Killoran, A., Biglan, K. M., Jankovic, J., Eberly, S., Kayson, E., Oakes, D., . . . Shoulson, I. (2013). Characterization of the Huntington intermediate CAG repeat expansion phenotype in PHAROS. *Neurology*, 80(22), 2022-2027. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318294b304
- Kim, D. M., Ryu, S. W., & Choi, C. (2010). Long-term treatment of farnesyltransferase inhibitor FTI-277 induces neurotoxicity of hippocampal neurons from rat embryo in a ROS-dependent manner. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 403(1), 91-96. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.10.123
- Kim, G. W., & Chan, P. H. (2001). Oxidative stress and neuronal DNA fragmentation mediate age-dependent vulnerability to the mitochondrial toxin, 3-nitropropionic acid, in the mouse striatum. *Neurobiol Dis*, 8(1), 114-126. doi:10.1006/nbdi.2000.0327
- Kim, G. W., Gasche, Y., Grzeschik, S., Copin, J. C., Maier, C. M., & Chan, P. H. (2003). Neurodegeneration in striatum induced by the mitochondrial toxin 3-nitropropionic

acid: role of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in early blood-brain barrier disruption? *J Neurosci*, 23(25), 8733-8742. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=14507973

- Kim, M. W., Chelliah, Y., Kim, S. W., Otwinowski, Z., & Bezprozvanny, I. (2009). Secondary structure of Huntingtin amino-terminal region. *Structure*, 17(9), 1205-1212. doi:10.1016/j.str.2009.08.002
- Kirkwood, S. C., Siemers, E., Bond, C., Conneally, P. M., Christian, J. C., & Foroud, T. (2000). Confirmation of subtle motor changes among presymptomatic carriers of the Huntington disease gene. *Arch Neurol*, 57(7), 1040-1044. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=10891987
- Kleinridders, A., Cai, W., Cappellucci, L., Ghazarian, A., Collins, W. R., Vienberg, S. G., . . . Kahn, C. R. (2015). Insulin resistance in brain alters dopamine turnover and causes behavioral disorders. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *112*(11), 3463-3468. doi:10.1073/pnas.1500877112
- Kloppel, S., Draganski, B., Golding, C. V., Chu, C., Nagy, Z., Cook, P.
 A., . . . Frackowiak, R. S. (2008). White matter connections reflect changes in voluntary-guided saccades in pre-symptomatic Huntington's disease. *Brain*, 131(Pt 1), 196-204. doi:10.1093/brain/awm275
- Korolchuk, V. I., Menzies, F. M., & Rubinsztein, D. C. (2010). Mechanisms of cross-talk between the ubiquitin-proteasome and autophagy-lysosome systems. *FEBS Lett*, 584(7), 1393-1398. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2009.12.047
- Kraft, J. C., Osterhaus, G. L., Ortiz, A. N., Garris, P. A., & Johnson, M. A. (2009). In vivo dopamine release and uptake impairments in rats treated with 3-nitropropionic acid. *Neuroscience*, 161(3), 940-949. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.03.083
- Kuemmerle, S., Gutekunst, C. A., Klein, A. M., Li, X. J., Li, S. H., Beal, M. F., . . . Ferrante, R. J. (1999). Huntington aggregates may not predict neuronal death in Huntington's disease. *Ann Neurol*, 46(6), 842-849. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=10589536
- Kuzuyama, T., & Seto, H. (2012). Two distinct pathways for essential metabolic precursors for isoprenoid biosynthesis. *Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci*, 88(3), 41-52. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/guery.fcgi?cmd=Petrieve&db=PubMed&dopt.

- Landles, C., & Bates, G. P. (2004). Huntingtin and the molecular pathogenesis of Huntington's disease. Fourth in molecular medicine review series. *EMBO Rep*, 5(10), 958-963. doi:10.1038/sj.embor.7400250
- Lee, F. A., Baiamonte, B. A., Spano, D., Lahoste, G. J., Soignier, R. D., & Harrison, L. M. (2011). Mice lacking rhes show altered morphine analgesia, tolerance, and dependence. *Neurosci Lett*, 489(3), 182-186. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2010.12.012
- Lee, J. H., Sowada, M. J., Boudreau, R. L., Aerts, A. M., Thedens, D. R., Nopoulos, P., & Davidson, B. L. (2014). Rhes suppression enhances disease phenotypes in Huntington's disease mice. *J Huntingtons Dis*, 3(1), 65-71. doi:10.3233/JHD-140094

- Lee, S. T., Chu, K., Park, J. E., Hong, N. H., Im, W. S., Kang, L., . . . Kim, M. (2008). Atorvastatin attenuates mitochondrial toxin-induced striatal degeneration, with decreasing iNOS/c-Jun levels and activating ERK/Akt pathways. *J Neurochem*, 104(5), 1190-1200. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.05044.x
- Lemiere, J., Decruyenaere, M., Evers-Kiebooms, G., Vandenbussche, E., & Dom, R. (2004). Cognitive changes in patients with Huntington's disease (HD) and asymptomatic carriers of the HD mutation--a longitudinal follow-up study. J Neurol, 251(8), 935-942. doi:10.1007/s00415-004-0461-9
- Li, J. Y., Plomann, M., & Brundin, P. (2003). Huntington's disease: a synaptopathy? *Trends Mol Med*, 9(10), 414-420. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=14557053
- Li, S. H., & Li, X. J. (2004). Huntingtin-protein interactions and the pathogenesis of Huntington's disease. *Trends Genet*, 20(3), 146-154. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2004.01.008
- Ludolph, A. C., He, F., Spencer, P. S., Hammerstad, J., & Sabri, M. (1991). 3-Nitropropionic acid-exogenous animal neurotoxin and possible human striatal toxin. *Can J Neurol Sci*, 18(4), 492-498. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=1782616
- MacDonald, M. E., Ambrose, C. M., Duyao, M. P., Myers, R. H., Lin, C., Srinidhi, L., . . Groot, N. (1993). A novel gene containing a trinucleotide repeat that is expanded and unstable on Huntington's disease chromosomes. *Cell*, 72(6), 971-983. Retrieved from

http://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/30901/0000570.pdf?sequen ce=3

- Magnotta, V. A., Kim, J., Koscik, T., Beglinger, L. J., Espinso, D., Langbehn, D., . . . Paulsen, J. S. (2009). Diffusion Tensor Imaging in Preclinical Huntington's Disease. *Brain Imaging Behav*, 3(1), 77-84. doi:10.1007/s11682-008-9051-2
- Mangiarini, L., Sathasivam, K., Seller, M., Cozens, B., Harper, A., Hetherington, C., . . . Bates, G. P. (1996). Exon 1 of the HD gene with an expanded CAG repeat is sufficient to cause a progressive neurological phenotype in transgenic mice. *Cell*, 87(3), 493-506. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=8898202

Martin-Aparicio, E., Yamamoto, A., Hernandez, F., Hen, R., Avila, J., & Lucas, J. J. (2001). Proteasomal-dependent aggregate reversal and absence of cell death in a conditional mouse model of Huntington's disease. *J Neurosci*, 21(22), 8772-8781. Retrieved from

- Martindale, D., Hackam, A., Wieczorek, A., Ellerby, L., Wellington, C., McCutcheon, K., . . . Hayden, M. R. (1998). Length of huntingtin and its polyglutamine tract influences localization and frequency of intracellular aggregates. *Nat Genet*, 18(2), 150-154. doi:10.1038/ng0298-150
- Mealer, R. G., Murray, A. J., Shahani, N., Subramaniam, S., & Snyder, S. H. (2014). Rhes, a striatal-selective protein implicated in Huntington disease, binds beclin-1

and activates autophagy. *J Biol Chem*, 289(6), 3547-3554. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.536912

- Mealer, R. G., Subramaniam, S., & Snyder, S. H. (2013). Rhes deletion is neuroprotective in the 3-nitropropionic acid model of Huntington's disease. J *Neurosci*, 33(9), 4206-4210. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3730-12.2013
- Menzies, F. M., Garcia-Arencibia, M., Imarisio, S., O'Sullivan, N. C., Ricketts, T., Kent, B. A., . . . Rubinsztein, D. C. (2015). Calpain inhibition mediates autophagydependent protection against polyglutamine toxicity. *Cell Death Differ*, 22(3), 433-444. doi:10.1038/cdd.2014.151
- Moffitt, H., McPhail, G. D., Woodman, B., Hobbs, C., & Bates, G. P. (2009). Formation of polyglutamine inclusions in a wide range of non-CNS tissues in the HdhQ150 knock-in mouse model of Huntington's disease. *PLoS One*, 4(11), e8025. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008025
- Moon, H. J., Kim, S. E., Yun, Y. P., Hwang, Y. S., Bang, J. B., Park, J. H., & Kwon, I. K. (2011). Simvastatin inhibits osteoclast differentiation by scavenging reactive oxygen species. *Exp Mol Med*, 43(11), 605-612. doi:10.3858/emm.2011.43.11.067
- Nana, A. L., Kim, E. H., Thu, D. C., Oorschot, D. E., Tippett, L. J., Hogg, V. M., . . . Faull, R. L. (2014). Widespread heterogeneous neuronal loss across the cerebral cortex in Huntington's disease. *J Huntingtons Dis*, 3(1), 45-64. doi:10.3233/JHD-140092
- Neuwald, A. F., & Hirano, T. (2000). HEAT repeats associated with condensins, cohesins, and other complexes involved in chromosome-related functions. *Genome Res*, 10(10), 1445-1452. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=11042144
- Nguyen, T. T., Oh, S. S., Weaver, D., Lewandowska, A., Maxfield, D., Schuler, M. H., . . . Shaw, J. M. (2014). Loss of Miro1-directed mitochondrial movement results in a novel murine model for neuron disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *111*(35), E3631-E3640. doi:10.1073/pnas.1402449111
- Nixon, R. A. (2013). The role of autophagy in neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Med*, *19*(8), 983-997. doi:10.1038/nm.3232
- Novak, M. J., Warren, J. D., Henley, S. M., Draganski, B., Frackowiak, R. S., & Tabrizi, S. J. (2012). Altered brain mechanisms of emotion processing in pre-manifest Huntington's disease. *Brain*, 135(Pt 4), 1165-1179. doi:10.1093/brain/aws024
- Paolisso, G., Sgambato, S., De Riu, S., Gambardella, A., Verza, M., Varricchio, M., & D'Onofrio, F. (1991). Simvastatin reduces plasma lipid levels and improves insulin action in elderly, non-insulin dependent diabetics. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, 40(1), 27-31. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=2060542

Papp, K. V., Snyder, P. J., Mills, J. A., Duff, K., Westervelt, H. J., Long, J. D., . . . Paulsen, J. S. (2013). Measuring executive dysfunction longitudinally and in relation to genetic burden, brain volumetrics, and depression in prodromal Huntington disease. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 28(2), 156-168. doi:10.1093/arclin/acs105

Paulsen, J. S., Long, J. D., Johnson, H. J., Aylward, E. H., Ross, C. A., Williams, J.

K., . . . Panegyres, P. K. (2014a). Clinical and Biomarker Changes in Premanifest Huntington Disease Show Trial Feasibility: A Decade of the PREDICT-HD Study. *Front Aging Neurosci*, 6, 78. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00078

- Paulsen, J. S., Long, J. D., Ross, C. A., Harrington, D. L., Erwin, C. J., Williams, J. K., . . . Barker, R. A. (2014b). Prediction of manifest Huntington's disease with clinical and imaging measures: a prospective observational study. *Lancet Neurol*, 13(12), 1193-1201. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70238-8
- Paulsen, J. S., Nehl, C., Hoth, K. F., Kanz, J. E., Benjamin, M., Conybeare, R., . . . Turner, B. (2005). Depression and stages of Huntington's disease. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci, 17(4), 496-502. doi:10.1176/appi.neuropsych.17.4.496
- Paulsen, J. S., Nopoulos, P. C., Aylward, E., Ross, C. A., Johnson, H., Magnotta, V. A., . . . Nance, M. (2010). Striatal and white matter predictors of estimated diagnosis for Huntington disease. *Brain Res Bull*, 82(3-4), 201-207. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2010.04.003
- Peinemann, A., Schuller, S., Pohl, C., Jahn, T., Weindl, A., & Kassubek, J. (2005). Executive dysfunction in early stages of Huntington's disease is associated with striatal and insular atrophy: a neuropsychological and voxel-based morphometric study. *J Neurol Sci*, 239(1), 11-19. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2005.07.007
- Penney, J. B. J., Young, A. B., Shoulson, I., Starosta-Rubenstein, S., Snodgrass, S. R., Sanchez-Ramos, J., . . . et, a. (1990). Huntington's disease in Venezuela: 7 years of follow-up on symptomatic and asymptomatic individuals. *Mov Disord*, 5(2), 93-99. doi:10.1002/mds.870050202
- Perutz, M. (1994). Polar zippers: their role in human disease. *Protein Sci*, *3*(10), 1629-1637. doi:10.1002/pro.5560031002
- Ponce, J., de la Ossa, N. P., Hurtado, O., Millan, M., Arenillas, J. F., Davalos, A., & Gasull, T. (2008). Simvastatin reduces the association of NMDA receptors to lipid rafts: a cholesterol-mediated effect in neuroprotection. *Stroke*, *39*(4), 1269-1275. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.498923
- Poudel, G. R., Stout, J. C., Dominguez, D. J. F., Churchyard, A., Chua, P., Egan, G. F., & Georgiou-Karistianis, N. (2014). Longitudinal change in white matter microstructure in Huntington's disease: The IMAGE-HD study. *Neurobiol Dis.* doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2014.12.009
- Ratovitski, T., Gucek, M., Jiang, H., Chighladze, E., Waldron, E., D'Ambola,
 J., . . Ross, C. A. (2009). Mutant huntingtin N-terminal fragments of specific size mediate aggregation and toxicity in neuronal cells. *J Biol Chem*, 284(16), 10855-10867. doi:10.1074/jbc.M804813200
- Ravikumar, B., Vacher, C., Berger, Z., Davies, J. E., Luo, S., Oroz, L.
 G., . . . Rubinsztein, D. C. (2004). Inhibition of mTOR induces autophagy and reduces toxicity of polyglutamine expansions in fly and mouse models of Huntington disease. *Nat Genet*, *36*(6), 585-595. doi:10.1038/ng1362
- Rees, E. M., Farmer, R., Cole, J. H., Haider, S., Durr, A., Landwehrmeyer, B., . . . Hobbs, N. Z. (2014). Cerebellar abnormalities in Huntington's disease: a role in motor and psychiatric impairment? *Mov Disord*, 29(13), 1648-1654. doi:10.1002/mds.25984
- Reiner, A., Albin, R. L., Anderson, K. D., D'Amato, C. J., Penney, J. B., & Young, A. B. (1988). Differential loss of striatal projection neurons in Huntington disease. *Proc*

Natl Acad Sci U S A, 85(15), 5733-5737. Retrieved from

- Rigamonti, D., Bauer, J. H., De-Fraja, C., Conti, L., Sipione, S., Sciorati, C., . . . Cattaneo, E. (2000). Wild-type huntingtin protects from apoptosis upstream of caspase-3. *J Neurosci*, 20(10), 3705-3713. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=10804212
- Roos, R. A. (2010). Huntington's disease: a clinical review. *Orphanet J Rare Dis*, 5(1), 40. doi:10.1186/1750-1172-5-40
- Rosas, H. D., Lee, S. Y., Bender, A. C., Zaleta, A. K., Vangel, M., Yu, P., ... Hersch, S. M. (2010). Altered white matter microstructure in the corpus callosum in Huntington's disease: implications for cortical "disconnection". *Neuroimage*, 49(4), 2995-3004. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.10.015
- Rosas, H. D., Salat, D. H., Lee, S. Y., Zaleta, A. K., Pappu, V., Fischl, B., . . . Hersch, S. M. (2008). Cerebral cortex and the clinical expression of Huntington's disease: complexity and heterogeneity. *Brain*, 131(Pt 4), 1057-1068. doi:10.1093/brain/awn025
- Rosenblatt, A., Kumar, B. V., Mo, A., Welsh, C. S., Margolis, R. L., & Ross, C. A. (2012). Age, CAG repeat length, and clinical progression in Huntington's disease. *Mov Disord*, 27(2), 272-276. doi:10.1002/mds.24024
- Rubinsztein, D. C. (2002). Lessons from animal models of Huntington's disease. *Trends Genet*, *18*(4), 202-209. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=11932021
- Russell, R. G. (2011). Bisphosphonates: the first 40 years. *Bone*, 49(1), 2-19. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2011.04.022
- Sadagurski, M., Cheng, Z., Rozzo, A., Palazzolo, I., Kelley, G. R., Dong, X., . . . White, M. F. (2011). IRS2 increases mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in a mouse model of Huntington disease. *J Clin Invest*, *121*(10), 4070-4081. doi:10.1172/JCI46305
- Saheki, A., Terasaki, T., Tamai, I., & Tsuji, A. (1994). In vivo and in vitro blood-brain barrier transport of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors. *Pharm Res*, 11(2), 305-311. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=8165193
- Sattar, N., Preiss, D., Murray, H. M., Welsh, P., Buckley, B. M., de Craen, A. J., . . . Ford, I. (2010). Statins and risk of incident diabetes: a collaborative meta-analysis of randomised statin trials. *Lancet*, 375(9716), 735-742. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61965-6
- Say, M. J., Jones, R., Scahill, R. I., Dumas, E. M., Coleman, A., Santos, R. C., ... Stout, J. C. (2011). Visuomotor integration deficits precede clinical onset in Huntington's disease. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(2), 264-270. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.11.016
- Schoenfeld, M., Myers, R. H., Cupples, L. A., Berkman, B., Sax, D. S., & Clark, E. (1984). Increased rate of suicide among patients with Huntington's disease. *J*

Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 47(12), 1283-1287. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=6239910

- Selman, C., Lingard, S., Choudhury, A. I., Batterham, R. L., Claret, M., Clements, M., . . . Withers, D. J. (2008). Evidence for lifespan extension and delayed agerelated biomarkers in insulin receptor substrate 1 null mice. *FASEB J*, 22(3), 807-818. doi:10.1096/fj.07-9261com
- Seppi, K., Schocke, M. F., Mair, K. J., Esterhammer, R., Weirich-Schwaiger, H., Utermann, B., . . . Wenning, G. K. (2006). Diffusion-weighted imaging in Huntington's disease. *Mov Disord*, 21(7), 1043-1047. doi:10.1002/mds.20868
- Shannon, K. M., & Fraint, A. (2015). Therapeutic advances in Huntington's Disease. *Mov Disord*, 30(11), 1539-1546. doi:10.1002/mds.26331
- Shepardson, N. E., Shankar, G. M., & Selkoe, D. J. (2011). Cholesterol level and statin use in Alzheimer disease: I. Review of epidemiological and preclinical studies. *Arch Neurol*, 68(10), 1239-1244. doi:10.1001/archneurol.2011.203
- Sierra, S., Ramos, M. C., Molina, P., Esteo, C., Vazquez, J. A., & Burgos, J. S. (2011). Statins as neuroprotectants: a comparative in vitro study of lipophilicity, bloodbrain-barrier penetration, lowering of brain cholesterol, and decrease of neuron cell death. J Alzheimers Dis, 23(2), 307-318. doi:10.3233/JAD-2010-101179
- Simons, M., Keller, P., De Strooper, B., Beyreuther, K., Dotti, C. G., & Simons, K. (1998). Cholesterol depletion inhibits the generation of beta-amyloid in hippocampal neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95(11), 6460-6464. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=9600988

- Sims-Robinson, C., Kim, B., Rosko, A., & Feldman, E. L. (2010). How does diabetes accelerate Alzheimer disease pathology? *Nat Rev Neurol*, 6(10), 551-559. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2010.130
- Slow, E. J., Graham, R. K., Osmand, A. P., Devon, R. S., Lu, G., Deng, Y., . . . Hayden, M. R. (2005). Absence of behavioral abnormalities and neurodegeneration in vivo despite widespread neuronal huntingtin inclusions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(32), 11402-11407. doi:10.1073/pnas.0503634102
- Spano, D., Branchi, I., Rosica, A., Pirro, M. T., Riccio, A., Mithbaokar, P., . . . Di Lauro, R. (2004). Rhes is involved in striatal function. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24(13), 5788-5796. doi:10.1128/MCB.24.13.5788-5796.2004

Steffan, J. S., Agrawal, N., Pallos, J., Rockabrand, E., Trotman, L. C., Slepko, N., . . . Marsh, J. L. (2004). SUMO modification of Huntingtin and Huntington's disease pathology. *Science*, 304(5667), 100-104. doi:10.1126/science.1092194

- Subramaniam, S., Napolitano, F., Mealer, R. G., Kim, S., Errico, F., Barrow, R., . . . Usiello, A. (2012). Rhes, a striatal-enriched small G protein, mediates mTOR signaling and L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia. *Nat Neurosci*, 15(2), 191-193. doi:10.1038/nn.2994
- Subramaniam, S., Sixt, K. M., Barrow, R., & Snyder, S. H. (2009). Rhes, a striatal specific protein, mediates mutant-huntingtin cytotoxicity. *Science*, *324*(5932), 1327-1330. doi:10.1126/science.1172871
- Taguchi, A., Wartschow, L. M., & White, M. F. (2007). Brain IRS2 signaling coordinates
life span and nutrient homeostasis. *Science*, *317*(5836), 369-372. doi:10.1126/science.1142179

- Takai, Y., Sasaki, T., & Matozaki, T. (2001). Small GTP-binding proteins. *Physiol Rev*, 81(1), 153-208. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=11152757
- Thompson, J. C., Harris, J., Sollom, A. C., Stopford, C. L., Howard, E., Snowden, J. S., & Craufurd, D. (2012). Longitudinal evaluation of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Huntington's disease. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 24(1), 53-60. doi:10.1176/appi.neuropsych.11030057
- Trushina, E., Singh, R. D., Dyer, R. B., Cao, S., Shah, V. H., Parton, R. G., . . . McMurray, C. T. (2006). Mutant huntingtin inhibits clathrin-independent endocytosis and causes accumulation of cholesterol in vitro and in vivo. *Hum Mol Genet*, 15(24), 3578-3591. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddl434
- Tsuang, D., Almqvist, E. W., Lipe, H., Strgar, F., DiGiacomo, L., Hoff, D., ... Bird, T. D. (2000). Familial aggregation of psychotic symptoms in Huntington's disease. Am J Psychiatry, 157(12), 1955-1959. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=11097960
- Tsujimoto, Y., & Shimizu, S. (2005). Another way to die: autophagic programmed cell death. *Cell Death Differ*, *12 Suppl 2*, 1528-1534. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401777
- Tsvetkov, A. S., Arrasate, M., Barmada, S., Ando, D. M., Sharma, P., Shaby, B. A., & Finkbeiner, S. (2013). Proteostasis of polyglutamine varies among neurons and predicts neurodegeneration. *Nat Chem Biol*, 9(9), 586-592. doi:10.1038/nchembio.1308
- Tunez, I., Tasset, I., Perez-De La Cruz, V., & Santamaria, A. (2010). 3-Nitropropionic acid as a tool to study the mechanisms involved in Huntington's disease: past, present and future. *Molecules*, 15(2), 878-916. doi:10.3390/molecules15020878
- Ubhi, K., Lee, P. H., Adame, A., Inglis, C., Mante, M., Rockenstein, E., . . . Masliah, E. (2009). Mitochondrial inhibitor 3-nitroproprionic acid enhances oxidative modification of alpha-synuclein in a transgenic mouse model of multiple system atrophy. *J Neurosci Res*, 87(12), 2728-2739. doi:10.1002/jnr.22089
- Unschuld, P. G., Joel, S. E., Liu, X., Shanahan, M., Margolis, R. L., Biglan, K. M., . . . Ross, C. A. (2012). Impaired cortico-striatal functional connectivity in prodromal Huntington's Disease. *Neurosci Lett*, 514(2), 204-209. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2012.02.095
- Vacher, C., Garcia-Oroz, L., & Rubinsztein, D. C. (2005). Overexpression of yeast hsp104 reduces polyglutamine aggregation and prolongs survival of a transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. *Hum Mol Genet*, 14(22), 3425-3433. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddi372
- Valencia, A., Reeves, P. B., Sapp, E., Li, X., Alexander, J., Kegel, K. B., ... DiFiglia, M. (2010). Mutant huntingtin and glycogen synthase kinase 3-beta accumulate in neuronal lipid rafts of a presymptomatic knock-in mouse model of Huntington's disease. J Neurosci Res, 88(1), 179-190. doi:10.1002/jnr.22184
- Valenza, M., Rigamonti, D., Goffredo, D., Zuccato, C., Fenu, S., Jamot, L., . . . Cattaneo,E. (2005). Dysfunction of the cholesterol biosynthetic pathway in Huntington's

disease. J Neurosci, 25(43), 9932-9939. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3355-05.2005

- van de Ven, V. G., Formisano, E., Prvulovic, D., Roeder, C. H., & Linden, D. E. (2004). Functional connectivity as revealed by spatial independent component analysis of fMRI measurements during rest. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 22(3), 165-178. doi:10.1002/hbm.20022
- van den Bogaard, S. J., Dumas, E. M., Ferrarini, L., Milles, J., van Buchem, M. A., van der Grond, J., & Roos, R. A. (2011). Shape analysis of subcortical nuclei in Huntington's disease, global versus local atrophy--results from the TRACK-HD study. *J Neurol Sci*, 307(1-2), 60-68. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2011.05.015
- van Duijn, E., Kingma, E. M., & van der Mast, R. C. (2007). Psychopathology in verified Huntington's disease gene carriers. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 19(4), 441-448. doi:10.1176/appi.neuropsych.19.4.441
- Varela, I., Pereira, S., Ugalde, A. P., Navarro, C. L., Suarez, M. F., Cau, P., . . . Lopez-Otin, C. (2008). Combined treatment with statins and aminobisphosphonates extends longevity in a mouse model of human premature aging. *Nat Med*, 14(7), 767-772. doi:10.1038/nm1786
- Vargiu, P., De Abajo, R., Garcia-Ranea, J. A., Valencia, A., Santisteban, P., Crespo, P., & Bernal, J. (2004). The small GTP-binding protein, Rhes, regulates signal transduction from G protein-coupled receptors. *Oncogene*, 23(2), 559-568. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1207161
- Vincenzi, B., Santini, D., Avvisati, G., Baldi, A., Cesa, A. L., & Tonini, G. (2003). Statins may potentiate bisphosphonates anticancer properties: a new pharmacological approach? *Med Hypotheses*, 61(1), 98-101. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12781649
- Voges, D., Zwickl, P., & Baumeister, W. (1999). The 26S proteasome: a molecular machine designed for controlled proteolysis. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 68, 1015-1068. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.68.1.1015
- Wakchoure, S., Merrell, M. A., Aldrich, W., Millender-Swain, T., Harris, K. W., Triozzi, P., & Selander, K. S. (2006). Bisphosphonates inhibit the growth of mesothelioma cells in vitro and in vivo. *Clin Cancer Res*, 12(9), 2862-2868. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-2766
- Waldvogel, H. J., Kim, E. H., Thu, D. C., Tippett, L. J., & Faull, R. L. (2012). New Perspectives on the Neuropathology in Huntington's Disease in the Human Brain and its Relation to Symptom Variation. *J Huntingtons Dis*, 1(2), 143-153. doi:10.3233/JHD-2012-120018
- Weiss, H. M., Pfaar, U., Schweitzer, A., Wiegand, H., Skerjanec, A., & Schran, H.
 (2008). Biodistribution and plasma protein binding of zoledronic acid. *Drug Metab Dispos*, *36*(10), 2043-2049. doi:10.1124/dmd.108.021071
- Wellington, C. L., Singaraja, R., Ellerby, L., Savill, J., Roy, S., Leavitt, B., . . . Hayden, M. R. (2000). Inhibiting caspase cleavage of huntingtin reduces toxicity and aggregate formation in neuronal and nonneuronal cells. *J Biol Chem*, 275(26), 19831-19838. doi:10.1074/jbc.M001475200
- White, M. F. (2014). IRS2 integrates insulin/IGF1 signalling with metabolism, neurodegeneration and longevity. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, 16 Suppl 1, 4-15. doi:10.1111/dom.12347

- Wong, Y. C., & Holzbaur, E. L. (2014). The regulation of autophagosome dynamics by huntingtin and HAP1 is disrupted by expression of mutant huntingtin, leading to defective cargo degradation. *J Neurosci*, 34(4), 1293-1305. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1870-13.2014
- Yada, T., Nakata, M., Shiraishi, T., & Kakei, M. (1999). Inhibition by simvastatin, but not pravastatin, of glucose-induced cytosolic Ca2+ signalling and insulin secretion due to blockade of L-type Ca2+ channels in rat islet beta-cells. *Br J Pharmacol*, *126*(5), 1205-1213. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0702397
- Yang, W., Dunlap, J. R., Andrews, R. B., & Wetzel, R. (2002). Aggregated polyglutamine peptides delivered to nuclei are toxic to mammalian cells. *Hum Mol Genet*, 11(23), 2905-2917. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12393802
- Zhang, F. L., & Casey, P. J. (1996). Protein prenylation: molecular mechanisms and functional consequences. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 65, 241-269. doi:10.1146/annurev.bi.65.070196.001325
- Zhang, X., Mao, S., Luo, G., Wei, J., Berggren-Soderlund, M., Nilsson-Ehle, P., & Xu, N. (2011). Effects of simvastatin on apolipoprotein M in vivo and in vitro. *Lipids Health Dis*, 10, 112. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-10-112
- Zuccato, C., Valenza, M., & Cattaneo, E. (2010). Molecular mechanisms and potential therapeutical targets in Huntington's disease. *Physiol Rev*, 90(3), 905-981. doi:10.1152/physrev.00041.2009

Vita

The author was born and raised in New Castle, Delaware. She obtained her Bachelor's degree in psychology from Elizabethtown College, in Elizabethtown, Pennsylvania, in 2008. After working in a neuroendocrinology laboratory at the University of Maryland, School of Medicine, she joined the University of New Orleans to study Huntington's disease, under the mentorship of Dr. Gerald LaHoste, related neurodegeneration in tandem with clinical applications of psychology. She earned her Master of Science degree in 2013 and continued to pursue therapeutic targets for Huntington's in the current project.